

Scholars' Mine

Masters Theses

Student Theses and Dissertations

Fall 2012

Trace element accumulation in rice :effects of soil arsenic, irrigation management, phosphate application and iron oxide amendment

Eric Michael Farrow

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsmine.mst.edu/masters_theses

Part of the Civil and Environmental Engineering Commons Department:

Recommended Citation

Farrow, Eric Michael, "Trace element accumulation in rice :effects of soil arsenic, irrigation management, phosphate application and iron oxide amendment" (2012). *Masters Theses*. 6949. https://scholarsmine.mst.edu/masters_theses/6949

This thesis is brought to you by Scholars' Mine, a service of the Missouri S&T Library and Learning Resources. This work is protected by U. S. Copyright Law. Unauthorized use including reproduction for redistribution requires the permission of the copyright holder. For more information, please contact scholarsmine@mst.edu.

TRACE ELEMENT ACCUMULATION IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT, CULTIVAR, PHOSPHATE APPLICATION AND IRON OXIDE AMENDMENT

by

ERIC MICHAEL FARROW

A THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the

MISSOURI UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING

2012

Approved by

Jianmin Wang, Advisor Joel G. Burken David J. Wronkiewicz

PUBLICATION THESIS OPTION

This thesis has been prepared in the style utilized by the Office of Graduate Studies at the Missouri University of Science & Technology. Pages 15 - 60 will be submitted to Environmental Science & Technology for publication.

ABSTRACT

A concern is growing over the accumulation of trace contaminants in rice, a plant which has been estimated to supply 50% of the caloric intake to the world's population. Contamination with arsenic (As) and other trace elements have been shown in many areas including the U.S. and rice intake poses a potential risk to human health. This research investigated the accumulation of selected trace elements including arsenic (As), selenium (Se), molybdenum (Mo) and cadmium (Cd) in as many as six rice cultivars and two control soils common to the south central U.S. A field study was completed to evaluate the impact of As content in soil, irrigation management and cultivar on total rice grain element accumulation. Results indicated soil amended with monosodium methanearsonate (MSMA) increased the accumulation of As and Se, but decreased Mo accumulation in rice under all irrigation treatments. Grain-Cd increased for most cultivars in MSMA-amended soil. In addition, intermittent flooding significantly decreased total grain-As, Se and Mo, but increased Cd. Greenhouse studies were also completed to evaluate the impact of phosphate application and iron oxide amendments on total grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd. Correlations between soil-As and grain elements were also studied. Results indicated that grain-As concentration is directly proportional to the soil-As concentration, but phosphate application has no substantial impact on grain element concentration. Iron oxide amendments significantly reduced grain-As accumulation in rice. Results also indicated increasing the soil-As concentration increased grain-As, increased grain-Se and Cd, and decreased grain-Mo accumulation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A great amount of thanks is due to many, starting with my research advisor Dr. Jianmin Wang. It is through Dr. Wang's commitment and deep respect that my master's degree was even possible. He acknowledged on day one that I was the right fit for this position and my trust in his knowledge has been unfailing ever since. Dr. Joel Burken always made himself available, equipped with creative thinking which kept me in constant touch with technologies and techniques on the cutting edge.

The Environmental Research Center established the laboratories in which I was able to conduct research. The master of chemical analytics, Dr. Honglan Shi lent the largest hand and made my research a reality, providing many hours assisting with everything from method development to chemical analysis. Thank you Christina Adams for the help making purchases that kept our lab going.

Many fellow graduate students extended their support. First of all, I would like to say thank you to Matt Limmer. What Matt lacks in humor he makes up exponentially in The Ohio State red T-shirts and a wealth of meteorological, plant and statistical knowledge. To friends and lab mates including Ryan Stringer, Aaron Archer and Guoqiang Liu, I am grateful for the academic hand, social rest and sanity you provided.

Thanks to V.A. Samaranayake for the many independent lessons on statistical analysis that gave strength and validity to my research. Thank you also to the many project collaborators including Dr. Yang and Dr. Wengui Yan. This research was funded by USDA-NIFA grant No. 0215149 to Missouri University of Science & Technology, thank you taxpayers. Lastly and for those whom I've forgotten to thank, your help has contributed in ways I simply cannot quantify. And after all, it is quality that counts.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
PUBLICATION THESIS OPTIONiii
ABSTRACTiv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS v
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONSix
LIST OF TABLES
NOMENCLATURE xi
SECTION
1. BACKGROUND1
2. GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 4
3. LITERATURE REVIEW
3.1. TRACE ELEMENT MOBILITY IN SOIL
3.2. ESTIMATING UPTAKE MECHANISM INTO PLANTS
3.3. IDENTIFYING MITIGATION STRATEGIES 10
3.3.1. Irrigation Management 10
3.3.2. Soil Amendment10
3.3.3. Other Strategies
4. ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT AND CULTIVAR
4.1. ABSTRACT
4.2 INTRODUCTION17
4.3. EXPERIMENTAL

4.3.1. Design	
4.3.2. Sample Digestion Procedure	
4.3.3. Chemical Analysis	
4.3.4. Statistical Analysis	
4.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.4.1. Soil Characterization	
4.4.2. Effect of Soil As	
4.4.3. Irrigation Management Effect – Native Soil	
4.4.4. Irrigation Management Effect – MSMA-Amended Soil	
4.4.5. Element Correlations in Rice Grain	
4.4.6. Analysis of Variance	
4.5. ASSOCIATED CONTENT	
4.5.1. Supporting Information	
4.5.2. Acknowledgements	
5. ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EF OF SOIL ARSENIC, PHOSPHATE, AND FERRIC OXIDE – A GREEN STUDY	FECTS HOUSE
5.1. ABSTRACT	
5.2. INTRODUCTION	
5.3. EXPERIMENTAL	
5.3.1. Design	
5.3.2. Sample Preparation	
5.3.3. Sample Digestion Procedure	
5.3.4. Chemical Analysis	
5.3.5. Statistical Analysis	

5.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
5.4.1. Soil Characterization	
5.4.2. Effect of Soil-As	
5.4.3. Effect of Phosphate Application	53
5.4.4. Effect of Iron Oxide Amendment	53
5.5. ASSOCIATED CONTENT	59
5.5.1. Supporting Information	59
5.5.2. Acknowledgements	60
APPENDICES	
A. SUPPORTING INFORMATION FOR: ACCUMULATION OF SE TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, INDICATION MANAGEMENT AND CHUTWAD	LECTED
IKKIGATION MANAGEMENT AND CULTIVAK	

B. SUPPORTING INFORMATION FOR: ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED

PHOSPHATE, AND FERRIC OXIDE - A GREENHOUSE STUDY.......65

TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC,

viii

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Page

Figure 3.1. Flow diagram identifying trace element bioavailability and	
uptake into rice plants as influence by particular major elements.	6
Figure 4.1. Average total grain element concentrations for Soil × Water combinations of Zhe 733 comparing soil-As (main plot) and irrigation management (sub-plot) effects on total grain concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd.	. 25
Figure 4.2. Average total grain element concentrations for Soil × Water combinations of five cultivars comparing soil-As (main plot) and irrigation management (sub-plot) effects on total grain concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd.	. 26
Figure 4.3. Element correlations for the Zhe 733 cultivar in native (left) and MSMA-amended soil (right), including As-Se, As-Mo and As-Cd (top to bottom); evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$. 32
Figure 5.1. Experimental design of soil-As, phosphate and iron oxide studies, [*] , ^{**, ***} indicate control soil, As-amended soil and background phosphate, respectively	. 42
Figure 5.2. Correlations between Soil-As and concentrations of: (a) grain-As, (b) grain-Se, (c) grain-Mo, and (d) grain-Cd for Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733 (left to right); evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$. 47
Figure 5.3. Correlations between grain arsenic and total grain selenium concentrations for cultivars Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$. 52
Figure 5.4. Iron oxide impact on Cocodrie concentrations of grain-As in native soil; including 95% prediction and confidence intervals	. 56
Figure 5.5. Iron oxide impact on Cocodrie concentrations of (a) grain-As,(b) grain-Mo and (c) grain-Cd in As-amended soil; including 95% prediction and confidence intervals	. 57

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 4.1. Effect of cultivar for Soil × Water combinations of six cultivars on total grain concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd	
Table 4.2. Total grain concentration analysis of variance for six cultivars as impacted by Soil, Water and Cultivar in split-split plot, including results for The 733 (as impacted by Soil and Water) and six cultivars	
(as impacted by Soil, Water and Cultivar).	
Table 5.1. Analysis of variance for soil-As, phosphate application and iron oxide studies in completely randomized experimental design	50

NOMENCLATURE

Symbol	Description
As	Arsenic
Cd	Cadmium
Mo	Molybdenum
MSMA	Monosodium methanearsonate (CH ₄ AsNaO ₃)
Se	Selenium

1. BACKGROUND

The primary caloric intake of 50% of the world's population is sustained by rice and prompts/assumes a risk to human health caused by the accumulation of arsenic (As) and other trace elements including cadmium (Cd) [1]. Multiple market surveys have identified elevated As concentrations in rice grain (grain-As) and rice food product that exist as both inorganic and organic As [2-4]. Inorganic As has been determined a human carcinogen and the methylation of inorganic As to organic metabolites has been portrayed as a toxification pathway [5, 6]. Among all food categories, consumption of rice makes up the largest contribution to the dietary intake of As [7].

The source of As contamination in rice crops varies globally. Some rice crops are grown in areas contaminated by As polluted irrigation water. Others are grown with elevated arsenic concentrations in the soil (soil-As) due to high amounts of As byproducts around large mining areas [8, 9]. Rice crops in the south central U.S. are grown in areas formerly known as the "cotton belt" plagued by elevated soil-As attributed to the historic application of inorganic and organic As herbicides, pesticides and desiccants for a century between the mid-nineteenth century and the 1950s [10, 11]. During this time period an estimated 3 million pounds of such herbicides including monosodium methanearsonate (MSMA) were applied annually based on U.S. EPA's Screening Level Use Analysis data [10]. Due to the soil characteristics of this region, favorable conditions stabilize As in the soil and cause the decades of As application to have a cumulative effect on soil-As concentrations.

As a result of arsenical herbicide application, the average grain As concentrations of rice grown in the south central U.S. is 0.27 μ g g⁻¹. This concentration is substantially higher than global rice grain concentrations in Bangladesh (0.12 μ g g⁻¹), China (0.11 μ g g⁻¹) and India (0.05 μ g g⁻¹) [12-15]. For the United States, rice consumption continues to be a substantial part of diets. Including rice, annual grain consumption was 45% higher in 2000 than in 1970 [16]. Global paddy rice crops account for an estimated 75% of global rice production, growing at an annual rate of 3% [17, 18]. The overall average consumption of rice in the U.S. is 25 g per day, where individuals considered as 'rice consumers' (intake > 3.5 g rice per day) consume 61.2 g [2]. Asian-American ricesubsistent diets consume up to 400 g cap⁻¹d⁻¹ [19], estimating a per capita rice consumption in the U.S. of up to 108 μ g As d⁻¹ compared to 45.1 μ g As d⁻¹ in China [2, 15, 20, 21]. Therefore, current estimates suggest the greatest risk is posed against those with Asian-American diet consuming rice from the south central U.S.

Further exacerbating the risk associated with high grain-As is the lack of national regulation to control As food standards in the U.S. Global As standards present today include the Bangladesh National Drinking Water As Standard (50 μ g inorganic As g⁻¹), the Chinese Food Safety Standard (0.15 μ g inorganic As g⁻¹), the UK Food Statutory General Limit (1.0 mg kg⁻¹ fresh weight in food) and the U.S. EPA and World Health Organization (WHO) drinking water limit of 10 μ g L⁻¹ [9, 22, 23]. According to Williams, et al. [4], only 21% of rice produced in the south central U.S. would meet Chinese regulations. Based on average grain-As in the south central U.S., the average Asian-American diet would easily exceed the equivalent of U.S. EPA and WHO maximum tolerable daily intake (MTDI) [21, 24, 25].

Previous research has studied the impact of particular environmental conditions including soil-As, irrigation management and genotypic variables that may decrease the risk of arsenic toxicity to human health. It is well known that elevated soil-As corresponds to higher levels of As in the rice grain (grain-As) [24, 26, 27]. Grain-As is exacerbated further, irrespective of soil-As levels, when flooding conditions create a reducing environment that can lead to an increase in As uptake [24, 28]. Plant As uptake also varies based on cultivar [13, 29, 30] and the potential to significantly reduce grain-As has been shown through cultivar selection [31]. Straighthead disease is common to rice crops grown with elevated soil-As conditions, where panicle sterility and significant yield loss result from As toxicity. Cultivar selection may also be used to assist in minimizing the effects of straighthead disease [20, 32]. Minimizing grain-As uptake through the combination of irrigation management and straighthead resistance has been demonstrated in previous research [33, 34]. The presence of hazardous trace elements in rice thus merits national safety standards in the U.S. and continued research to link environmental conditions to food As levels and ultimately protect human health.

2. GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The goal of this research was to link soil concentrations to total grain concentrations in rice under varying environmental and experimental conditions for select trace elements of concern, including arsenic, selenium (Se), molybdenum (Mo) and cadmium (Cd). To provide a comprehensive understanding of this goal, specific objectives and corresponding hypotheses were developed.

Objective 1: Determine the impact of soil-As on total grain concentrations of elements of concern. The hypothesis stated increased soil-As would significantly impact plant accumulation of As and potentially Se, Mo and Cd.

Objective 2: Determine the impact of irrigation management techniques on total grain concentrations of elements of concern. The hypothesis stated the practice of intermittent flooding would significantly impact plant accumulation of As and potentially Se, Mo and Cd.

Objective 3: Evaluate correlations between concentrations of total grain arsenic and other trace elements of concern. The hypothesis stated significant correlations exist between total grain As and grain Se, Mo and Cd.

Objective 4: Determine the impact of phosphate application on total grain concentrations of elements of concern. The hypothesis stated phosphate application would significantly impact accumulation of grain As, Se, Mo and Cd.

Objective 5: Determine the impact of iron oxide amendments on total grain concentrations of elements of concern. The hypothesis stated iron oxide amendments would significantly impact accumulation of grain As, Se, Mo and Cd.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

Literature on As and selected trace elements including Se, Mo and Cd was reviewed on mobility in soil, subsequent rice plant uptake and potential mitigation techniques for rice crops. The impact of these factors on speciation was also evaluated. The review is presented with emphasis on the most prominent environments in which rice is grown in the south central U.S., mainly on soil of a silt-loam type, including continuous flooding and intermittent irrigation management practices.

3.1. TRACE ELEMENT MOBILITY IN SOIL

Trace element mobility in a soil environment is directly related to the solubility and bioavailability to plant uptake. The main factors impacting element mobility are soil redox, pH and the presence of other minerals and nutrient groups. Additional factors include temperature, biologic activity and water flux through the sol column. The soil chemistry at this level is not fully dependent on one factor, but is instead a function of the interaction between factors. Figure 3.1 illustrates factors that influence trace element mobility and uptake.

Soil redox potential is directly associated with the irrigation management of rice crops and has impact on element speciation and subsequent mobility. Continuous flooding is the most widely accepted irrigation management practice for rice crops grown today with a soil redox potential estimated at 500-200 mV (pH 5-8) [28]. In a continuously flooded field, flooding creates a physical barrier of oxygen diffusion and a reducing (anaerobic) soil environment [31]. Anaerobic condition may cause As-retaining in the soil to partially dissolve, releasing As and increasing bioavailability [28].



Figure 3.1. Flow diagram identifying trace element bioavailability and uptake into rice plants as influence by particular major elements. Diagram shows the predominant ionic or molecular species and uptake pathways into rice under generalized conditions.

Intermittent flooding, for example, flooding is alternated intermittently between flooding conditions with approximately 10 cm water and then allowed to reach less than field capacity [31]. This intermittent flooding creates a partially oxidized (aerobic) soil environment in between flooding periods. In this environment, the reduction of inorganic

As species is well known to occur with decreasing soil redox potential (0 to -200 mV), transforming As from primarily (> 95%) arsenate (As^V) to the generally more mobile and majorly dissociated arsenite (As^{III}). This may increase solubility by as much as 13 times [28]. The increased As solubility is directly associated with the release of As^V bound under aerobic conditions to Fe-(hydr)oxide complexes [35].

Iron is known as an essential soil element and offers high adsorption capacity in the oxidized state (Fe^{III}) for sorbates such as As^V. In an anoxic environment, these As^V-Fe^{III} complexes generally reduce to the more soluble forms of As^{III} and Fe^{II} in a reduced environment and subsequently may increase As bioavailability to plant uptake [35, 36].

In an aerobic environment, Se is present primarily in the more soluble form selenite (Se^{IV}) and in its highest oxidation state of selenate (Se^{VI}) [37]. Mo is present predominantly as Mo^{VI} in aerobic conditions with greatest affinity for oxides and sulfurcontaining groups [38]. In an anaerobic environment, Se is present in the stable forms elemental Se (Se⁰) and selenide (Se²⁻), however, Se²⁻ tends to form metal complexes with decreased solubility. Se reduction can also occur from microorganisms [39].

Mo is primarily in the molybdate (Mo^{IV}), or MoO_4^{-2} form in a reducing environment and competing for sorption sites similarly as the sulfate anion (SO_4^{-2}) [38]. The mobility of Mo is strongly influenced by redox conditions, existing predominantly as Mo^{IV} in the anoxic environment and Mo^{VI} in the oxic environment. In an anoxic environment, Mo^{IV} is predominantly present as the insoluble sulfide mineral molybdenite (MoS_2) [40]. Pyrite (FeS₂) is an important sediment sink for Mo [41]. Phosphate and molybdate compete with Se^{IV} uptake as a competitive adsorption onto Fe oxides [42]. Further, increased PO_4^{3-} may also assist in the formation of phosphomolybdate complexes in soils that are readily adsorbed by plants [43]. The effect of sulfur on Mo adsorption into plants may exist as direct competition between SO_4^{-2} and MoO_4^{-2} [44].

Plant roots facing stress in Fe-deficient soils have been shown to exude phytosiderophores (PS) that can chelate Cd and form soluble Cd-PS complexes by mobilizing formerly insoluble CdS and enhance plant Cd uptake [45]. In addition, plant Cd has been shown to express a significant positive correlation with plant Fe [46]. With regards to other soil minerals such as zinc (Zn), rice grain-Cd concentrations increase with higher Zn:Cd soil ratios [47].

Arsenic incorporation onto solid Fe-(hydr)oxide and other minerals such as those containing manganese (Mn) at higher soil redox levels (500-200 mV) may also decrease As solubility and corresponding plant uptake [28]. Belefant-Miller [48] has shown soil from rice exhibiting straighthead contains lower soil-Mn and lower pH than rice showing no straighthead; suggesting higher soil-As may contain less soil-Mn for straighthead susceptible cultivars. Therefore, MSMA-amended soil with higher redox levels may support the formation of As-Mn complexes and decrease As bioavailability.

Iron plaque can form on the root surface in an aerobic rhizosphere environment and significantly impact As uptake due to the oxidation of Fe^{II} to Fe^{III} stimulated by oxygen root diffusion or irrigation management such as intermittent flooding [49, 50]. Further, the As^V sorption on root plaque has even been shown to account for 80-84% of the total As adsorbed on plaque [34, 42, 51]. Root-plaque has been shown to exceed root concentrations [49, 50], and Somenahally, et al. [34] discovered root-plaque concentrations of up to 10 times greater than the adjacent rhizosphere soil. Continuous flooding conditions have been found to increase the As:Fe molar ratio as compared to intermittent flooding. Maximum concentrations of As on root plaque have been shown to occur in untreated (native) continuously flooded soil, even when compared to As concentrations on root plaque in MSMA-amended intermittent flooded soil [34].

3.2. ESTIMATING UPTAKE MECHANISMS INTO PLANTS

Under aerobic conditions, soluble As has been found to be as much as three times higher in lower pH due to a change in adsorption characteristics, illustrating the adsorption of As^V onto (iron) oxide surfaces to be a function of equilibrium pH [52, 53]. The variation of removal of As^V by iron (hydr)oxide adsorption in the pH range of 4-10 has been shown to be as great at 92% with maximum adsorption occurring in pH range of 4.5-6 [53, 54]. Cullen and Reimer [5] have shown pH primarily impacts As^V mobility.

Previous studies provide conclusive evidence that inorganic and organic As uptake by rice plants utilize separate uptake mechanisms, and further still, the uptake of inorganic As^{III} and As^{V} follow two different uptake mechanisms [56]. This difference was shown by Abedin, et al. [57] through competitive inhibition as the presence of phosphates strongly suppressed As^{V} , whereas As^{III} was not affected. As^{V} is characterized by ion size, symmetry and acid dissociation steps as a phosphate (P^{V}) analogue [58]. The uptake of As^{V} occurs dominantly in aerobic conditions and is readily available for plant uptake as a phosphate analogue via the phosphate transporter pathway [57, 59]. Abedin, et al. [57] has shown As^{III} uptake at high rates following Michaelis-Menten kinetics at the root symplast. The influx of As^{III} is primarily mediated as an active process and the majority of plant As uptake, is transported as a silicic acid analogue by aquaglyceroporins [60, 61].

Selenium in the form of selenate (Se^{VI}) follows the sulfate pathway via sulfate transporters. The uptake of selenite (Se^{IV}) is less understood, although it has been shown that Se^{IV} bonds to iron oxides and hydroxides more strongly than Se^{VI} [62]. Se^{IV} is predominantly mediated into rice plants via phosphate transporters and readily converted to other less soluble forms and accumulates in roots [63]. Antagonisms to sulfate- Se^{VI} are shown to be stronger than phosphate- Se^{IV} [63].

Mo is required by some plants for nitrogen fixation and to support proper plant growth [64]. Plant uptake mechanisms are much less known than, for example, As, Se and Cd. Three Cd transport mechanisms have been identified in rice, including uptake by roots, xylem loading into shoots and translocation up the plant via phloem [65]. Uptake of Cd in roots is a key process, whereby molecular approaches indicate essential element transporters such as Zn^{+2} ; Fe⁺² and Ca⁺² mediate Cd⁺² into roots [65, 66]. Cd is most well-known to be transported from rice roots to rice shoots by the xylem following absorption and to accumulate after remobilization from unknown transporters [65, 67].

3.3. IDENTIFYING MITIGATION STRATEGIES

There is a narrow window between nutrition and toxicity for trace elements, therefore well-deserved attention has been given towards mitigation techniques to minimize grain-As and grain-Cd concentrations. Previous research has proven mitigation potential in areas of irrigation management, cultivar selection and soil amendment.

3.3.1. Irrigation Management. Continuous flooding increased Asbioavailability to plants, regardless of the initial soil-As concentration [24, 28].According to Somenahally, et al. [34], intermittent flooding as compared to continuousflooding decreased grain-As concentrations by 30% in MSMA-amended soil and 45% in

native soil. Spanu, et al. [68] used a sprinkler type irrigation to further reduced grain-As and achieved 98% reduction in grain-As for 37 cultivars.

Intermittent flooding has been shown to increase the uptake of the more soluble Se^{IV/VI} [37]. Further, intermittent flooding may offer the combined benefit of increasing grain-Se and decreasing grain-As. Intermittent flooding can significantly increase crop yield by decreasing grain-As [31]. In addition, increased grain yield has been linked to a decrease in grain-Mo and suggests intermittent flooding could decrease grain-Mo [69]. Continuous flooding practices in paddy rice fields combine Cd in the soil system with sulfur (S) to form minimally soluble CdS and MoS₂, however the oxidative potential of intermittent flooding converts CdS to the more soluble CdSO₄ [70]. Using continuous flooding, [71] reported an 84% reduction in grain-Cd as compared to intermittent flooding.

3.3.2. Soil Amendment. The effect of phosphate application on As mobility and uptake is primarily influenced by competitive adsorption between As^V and to a lesser extent, As^{III} with P^V for available adsorption sites at Fe-oxide surfaces [72]. Research has shown an increase in As mobility to results from the addition of phosphate [73, 74]. Phosphate displaces the sorbed As^V from exchange sites, thus increasing solubility, phyto-availability, and movement down the soil profile [57]. Further, a direct correlation in soil between sodium dithionite-sodium citrate-sodium bicarbonate (DCB)-extractable PO₄³⁻ concentrations and soil-As has been demonstrated by Hua, et al. [33]. However, at least some research has shown phosphate decreases the uptake of As species by rice plants due to a competitive uptake mechanism [57]. In addition, Liu, et al. [46] showed As concentration in iron plaque to be significantly lower in plants treated with PO₄³⁻

solution (1.3 mM KH₂PO₄). When phosphorus (P) was present, four times adsorbent (Fe₂O₃) was required to adsorb the same amount of As without P (3.7x) [54]. Evidence suggests increased PO₄³⁻ application to As-susceptible cultivars may even suppress As^V uptake in plants and uptake PO₄³⁻ more efficiently [75]. Wang, et al. [78] has shown PO₄³⁻phosphorus (P) in the form of phosphates (PO₄³⁻), as phosphates have a greater affinity for soil sorption sites [38, 64]. Further, Abedin, et al. [57] showed application of PO₄³⁻ was more neutral and does not significantly impact plant yield or plant As concentrations, except for rice husk. Therefore, the impact of PO₄³⁻ application on As uptake remains unknown.

The effect of PO_4^{3-} application on Se mobility and uptake is primarily influenced by the competitive inhibition between increasing PO_4^{3-} and Se^{IV} [63]. Se transport mechanisms corresponding to PO_4^{3-} applications deserve further study to improve rice Se concentrations and minimize Se biofortification practices [76]. Increased Mo mobility may increase further with increased PO₄, as added phosphate also assist in the formation of phosphomolybdate complexes in soils that can then be readily adsorbed by plants [43].

The effect of phosphate application on Cd mobility and uptake is primarily enhanced by phosphate application. Waterlot, et al. [55] shows P amendment generally increased Cd uptake in rye grass shoots by 17.9-79%. Wang, et al. [77] has shown phosphate fertilizer addition to significantly decrease soluble Cd (1.5-30.7%) and uptake in cabbage by 16.5-66.9%. The effect of phosphate amendments on Cd mobility and uptake is also a function of the soil physiochemical properties, reducing Cd mobility by as much as 40% with a 3:5 amendment ratio of phosphate to Cd [46]. A mixture of in situ Fe-oxide and Al-oxide soil amendments have shown As adsorption potential in the order of greatest to least: ferrihydrite > boehmite > goethite and adsorption was determined primarily a function of porosity [54, 78]. One remediation strategy found a combination of steel shot and beringite (aluminosilicate) (1% and 5%, respectively) to largely immobilize soil As by adsorption on the aluminum (Al) and Fe oxides present in beringite [79-81]. Another performed by Manning, et al. [82] took the approach of applying zerovalent iron (Fe⁰) and found Fe⁰ immediately begins to corrode to Fe^{II} using water as the primary oxidant of the Fe⁰ surface and then is reacts with OH- and oxidizes a step further to a mixed Fe^{II}/Fe^{III}. In aerobic conditions Manning, et al. [82] found an Fe^{II}/Fe^{III} mixture assisted with oxidation of As^{III} to As^V. Further, the study confirmed Fe as goethite as a substantial absorbent, but found hematite and magnetite to only form weak bonds with As^{III} [82]. Zhang, et al. [54] has shown As^V follows a Langmuir adsorption isotherm onto majorly hematite and goethite iron ore deposits with a capacity of 0.4 mg As^V g⁻¹ adsorbent.

Perhaps the largest reduction provided by in situ soil amendments was achieved by Moore and Patrick Jr [83] using ferrous sulfate to reduce As^{V} concentrations in soil by 99.5%. The potential offered by the application of commercial grade FeSO₄ at 1.89% (w/w) has also been shown by Warren and Alloway [84] as a method for reducing As uptake in plants by up 84%. However, using ferrous sulfates to bind soil-As requires supplemental agricultural lime to adjust pH [83, 84].

Other elements such as Mo in the form of molybdate Mo^{VI} also have structural similarities, but a lower adsorption affinity towards Fe^{III} comparable to As^V [38, 83].

Although the release mechanism(s) primarily occur as reductive dissolution for As and Mo, the impact of iron oxide on the uptake of Se and Cd is largely unknown.

3.3.3. Other Strategies. Microbial activity has been shown to cause significant impact on As bioavailability [54, 85]. In the soil environment, oxygen depletion occurs with microbial activity and organic matter decomposition during flooded conditions [31]. The concentration of organic As species, dimethylarsinic acid (DMA^V), in soil pore-water has been positively correlated to the microbial methylation of As^{III} to DMA^V in anoxic conditions [85]. Further, the presence of sorbents strongly reduces As^V reduction rate by bacteria [78].

4. ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT AND CULTIVAR

Eric M. Farrow¹, Jianmin Wang^{1*}, Honglan Shi¹, John Yang², Bin Hua², Wengui Yan³, and Baolin Deng⁴

¹ Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Missouri University of Science and Technology, Rolla, Missouri

² Department of Agriculture and Environmental Science, Lincoln University of Missouri,

Jefferson City, Missouri

³ Dale Bumpers National Rice Research Center, Agricultural Research Service, U.S.

Department of Agriculture, Stuttgart, Arkansas

⁴ Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Missouri, Columbia, Missouri

4.1. ABSTRACT

Accumulation of trace elements of concern in rice has been reported in many regions of the world, including the United States. This research investigated the accumulation of selected trace elements including arsenic (As), selenium (Se), molybdenum (Mo) and cadmium (Cd) in six rice cultivars commonly grown in the south central U.S. The effects of As content in soil, irrigation management and cultivar on total grain element accumulation were evaluated. Results indicated MSMA-amended soil increased the accumulation of As and Se, but decreased Mo under all irrigation treatments. Grain-Cd increased for most cultivars. In native soil, intermittent flooding significantly decreased total grain Mo with negligible on As, Se and Cd. However, under MSMA-amended soil conditions, intermittent flooding significantly decreased total grain-As, but significantly increased Se and Cd and only slightly increased grain-Mo. A negative grain As-Se correlation, but a positive grain As-Mo correlation was identified based on all samples in this study. However, the grain As-Cd correlation was negligible. Statistical analysis revealed significant interactions between factors for As, Se and Mo accumulation, with negligible impact on Cd and concluded As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake to be a complex function rather than a function of a single factor.

4.2. INTRODUCTION

Inorganic arsenic (As) has been determined a human carcinogen by the U.S. EPA [10]. Rice contamination by As , though primarily composed of less toxic organic As, has also been recognized as a carcinogenic human health risk [86, 87]. Arsenic contamination in food crops could be caused by elevated As levels in soils of traditional cotton growing regions of the south central U.S., which were treated with the application of arsenical herbicides such as monosodium methanearsonate (MSMA) [11]. The average total grain-As concentration of rice grown in the south central U.S. is 0.27 μ g As g⁻¹ with approximately 0.11 μ g As g⁻¹ as inorganic As [2, 4]. However, As contamination is primarily in the inorganic form in subsequent rice food products such as toddler formula, cereal bars, rice syrup and energy shots [3, 21, 25]. Therefore, the daily consumption of these majorly unregulated rice and rice food products has exceeded the equivalent of U.S. EPA and WHO drinking water standard of 10 μ g L⁻¹ [24, 25]; making it imperative that the agricultural practices directly responsible for total As in foods be studied further.

Environmental conditions that relate to As uptake by rice plants have included As content in soil (soil-As), irrigation management and genotype variables such as cultivar and heading date in previous studies. Elevated soil-As corresponds to higher As content in grain (grain-As) [24, 26]. Straighthead disease is common to rice crops grown with elevated soil-As conditions, where panicle sterility and significant yield loss are realized [32]. Grain-As is exacerbated further irrespective of soil-As levels, where flooded conditions create a reducing environment that can lead to an increase in As uptake [24,

28, 34]. Plant As uptake also varies based on cultivar [13, 29], therefore potential to significantly reduce grain-As exists through cultivar selection [31].

In addition to As, the accumulation of other trace elements such as selenium (Se), molybdenum (Mo) and cadmium (Cd) in rice grain could also be of concern. Selenium is an essential trace element with known deficiencies that cause negative health effects such as cardiovascular disease and cancer [19]. However, Se is also regulated by the U.S. EPA in drinking water with a maximum contaminant level (MCL) of 50 μ g L⁻¹ as intake exceeding this level may also negatively impact human health [88]. By understanding Se transport mechanisms, rice Se concentrations may be regulated as necessary and minimize Se biofortification practices [89, 90]. Contrary to As uptake in continuous flooding, Mikkelsen, et al. [37] has shown Se uptake to decrease in rice as compared to non-flooded upland crops. Premarathna, et al. [90] has shown irrigation management impact on total grain Se to follow the order: field capacity > submerged/drained.

Molybdenum (Mo) is an essential trace element to human, though listed on the U.S. EPA drinking water Contaminant Candidate List 3 (CCL3) due to its potential negative effect under high concentrations [88]. Mo has been found to regulate calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg) and copper (Cu) metabolism in humans, where the greatest risk of Mo toxicity has been shown to occur in humans with Cu deficiencies [91]. Dunn and Dunn [69] discovered an increase in grain yield (or a decrease in total grain-As) resulted in a decrease in grain-Mo, suggesting a positive As-Mo correlation. Molybdenum toxicity may be a factor for crops grown in poorly drained soils; where tolerance varies with cultivar [92].

In recent years the accumulation of Cd in rice has been reported in many areas, especially China [70]. Unlike As, Se and Mo, which occur mostly as aqueous anionic complexes, Cd is soluble generally as the Cd²⁺ ion in rice soils. The bioaccumulation of non-essential elements such as Cd in rice may be greater than some essential elements [46]. Negative health impacts are known for Cd, including kidney dysfunction [93]. Further, Cheng, et al. [94] showed a positive As-Cd correlation in rice roots and straw; however, these studies did not evaluate total grain-Cd.

In previous research, most studies focused on the uptake of individual elements by rice under various environmental conditions. However, the uptake of multiple elements of concern may be related due to interaction between elements. In this research, the grain accumulation of multiple elements of concern, including As, Se, Mo and Cd were studied. The objectives of this research were to provide a comprehensive understanding and the significance of (a) the impact of soil-As on total grain concentrations of elements of concern; (b) the impact of irrigation management techniques on total grain concentrations of elements; and (c) correlations between elements of concern.

4.3. EXPERIMENTAL

4.3.1. Design. The field study was conducted in Stuttgart, Arkansas at the USDA ARS Dale Bumpers National Rice Research Center in 2009. The experiment was arranged in a split-split plot design with soil main plots and irrigation management subplots, where the main plot acted as the blocking factor. Each main plot was divided into four completely randomized sub-plots, for a total of eight treatment combinations. Each

sub-plot included six cultivars completely randomized in 1.8 m by 1.5 m plots prepared according to Pillai, et al. [31].

The native soil is a Dewitt silt-loam (fine, smectitic, thermic Typic Albaqualf). The field of MSMA-amended soil was treated with MSMA at a rate of 6.7 kg ha⁻¹ in alternate years since the 1980s for straighthead resistance evaluation [32]. Fields of non-MSMA soil (e.g. native soil) was located next to the field receiving MSMA treatment. Field soil samples were collected for analysis from both sites at the surface horizon (0-20 cm) before rice planting according to Hua, et al. [33].

Six cultivars commonly grown in the south central U.S. (4484-1693, Cocodrie, GP-2, Spalcik, Wells and Zhe 733) were included in this study. Cultivars included early, mid and late maturity periods with varying As induced straighthead susceptibility (resistant, moderate, and susceptible) [95, 96]. Arsenic tolerant cultivars that are given commercial precedence included Zhe 733. Therefore, the current research will concur with a practical solution to minimize grain-As in field production and focus on the impact of treatment factors on Zhe 733. The approach used for Zhe 733 analysis was used to analyze trends for the five additional cultivars.

The four irrigation management practices used in this study included one intermittently flooded condition and three continuously flooded conditions. Continuous flooding varied based on field draining 10, 20 and 35 days after rice plant heading date (50% panicle emergence from flag leaf). Intermittent flooding conditions were maintained in keeping soil moisture at or above field capacity, irrigating up to 10 cm from a nearby rainfall reservoir (pH ~7.0, < 2 μ g As L⁻¹) when soil surface moisture decreased to less than capacity. Cultivars were triplicated within each treatment combination. At maturity, rice grain from each plot was harvested and stored at room temperature. Prior to digestion, samples were de-hulled using ceramic mortar and pestle and oven dried at 65°C for 48 h or until constant weight and stored in a desiccator.

4.3.2. Sample Digestion Procedure. A modified EPA Method 3052 was used for the total digestion of the rice grain, using a pressure/temperature (p/T) sensor for control. Pre-acid cleaned Rotor 48 (MF50) digestion vessels were used and 0.5 g rice grain was measured into the vessels with 8.0 mL optima grade nitric acid (HNO₃) and 0.3 mL 30% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Fisher Scientific Co., Boston, U.S.). The digestion program consists of a 10 min ramp to 100°C with a 10 min hold, followed by a 10 min ramp to 140°C with a 15 min hold, then a 10 min ramp to 170°C with a 10 min hold before cool down.

A modified EPA Method 3051A was used to digest the soil and determine the acid extractable elements. Pre-acid cleaned Rotor 8 (XF100) digestion vessels were used and 0.5 g soil was measured into the vessels with 9.0 mL trace metal grade HNO₃ and 3.0 mL trace metal grade hydrochloric acid (HCl). The digestion program consists of a 10 min ramp to 1100W with a 20 min hold before cool down.

Digestion vessels were sealed in the rotor assemblies and samples were digested using a Multiwave 3000 microwave digester (Anton Paar, Austria). All digested samples were allowed to cool down to $< 50^{\circ}$ C before venting. A blank cleaning digestion using HNO₃ was performed for the MF50 and XF100 rotors between sample digestions.

Standard reference materials (NIST, Gaithersburg, MD) for rice grain (SRM1568a) and soil (SRM2711a Montana II) were included in respective digestions for quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC). Additional digestion QA/QC included one sample blank, one sample duplicate and one sample spike per 10 samples for rice and soil digestion. Spike concentrations were analyzed at an estimated two times average sample concentrations. Digested samples were rinsed from digestion vessels to acid cleaned 50 mL conical tubes and diluted to 20 mL using Millipore water (18.2 M Ω -cm).

4.3.3. Chemical Analysis. Total As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations in digested grain samples and extractable Se, Mo and Cd from soil samples were determined using inductively coupled mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (PerkinElmer Elan DRC-e, MDS Sciex, Concord, Ontario, Canada). Extractable As from soil was determined using graphite furnace atomic adsorption (GFAA) (PerkinElmer AAnalystTM 600, Shelton, CT, USA). Digested grain and soil samples were diluted to HNO₃ concentrations of 10% and 5% prior to ICP-MS analysis, respectively. Sample method detection limits (MDLs) for all tested elements were determined for the GFAA and ICP-MS according to EPA Method 200.9 and 200.8, respectively. Sample concentrations greater than 2-3 times MDL were required. Estimated soil MDLs for As, Se, Mo and Cd were 0.10, 0.08, 0.02 and 0.02 mg kg⁻¹, respectively. Estimated rice grain MDLs for As, Se, Mo and Cd were 0.004, 0.031, 0.003 and 0.003 mg kg^{-1} , respectively. QA/QC was validated if the following criteria were met: (a) relative difference of a duplicate sample less than 20%; (b) spike recovery between 85-115%; and (c) the accuracy of a calibration standard remained within 10% per 10 samples analyzed. Concentrations related to soil and grain accumulation in this study are reported as total concentrations unless stated otherwise.

4.3.4. Statistical Analysis. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure appropriate for the split-split-plot design utilized in this research was accrued out using SAS 9.2 to estimate the impact of experimental variables on element uptake. The

experimental variables (factors) are soil-As (Soil), irrigation management (Water) and Cultivar, with Soil treated as the main-plot factor, Water treated as the sub-plot factor and Cultivar acting as the sub-sub-plot factor. ANOVA allows interaction terms representing the combined impact of different factors on element uptake to be tested, whereby a significant interaction term signifies that the impact of the changing levels of one factor is influenced by the level of the other factor(s).

Experiment design was limited by the absence of replication at the main-plot level. Within each main-plot, Soil × Water treatment combinations were replicated three times, allowing Cultivar × Soil × Water, Cultivar × Water, Cultivar × Soil and Cultivar to be tested. Least square means with Tukey's adjustment were used to contrast means of specific Soil-Water combinations. Tukey's procedure allowed experiment-wise error to be kept at the selected rate, $\alpha = 0.05$ [97].

4.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.4.1. Soil Characterization. Characterization and major physiochemical properties of two soils used in this study, native soil and MSMA-amended soil are presented in Yan, et al. [95] and Hua, et al. [33]. The average soil-As in native and MSMA-amended soil was determined to be 5.9 ± 0.25 and 19.5 ± 0.36 mg kg⁻¹, respectively, confirming Hua, et al. [33], which were 5.0 and 18.3 for the native and MSMA-amended soil, respectively. Further, native soil contained 0.23 ± 0.004 mg kg⁻¹ Se, 0.38 ± 0.041 mg kg⁻¹ Mo and 0.06 ± 0.003 mg kg⁻¹ Cd and MSMA-amended soil contained 0.53 ± 0.086 mg kg⁻¹ Se, 0.63 ± 0.239 mg kg⁻¹ Mo and 0.06 ± 0.006 mg kg⁻¹ Cd.
4.4.2. Effect of Soil As. Grain concentrations were evaluated based on soil-As present in native and MSMA-amended plots. The importance of evaluating native soil was not only to provide a control for MSMA-amended soil, but also to determine the accumulation behavior of the trace elements of concern for low-As soil, and the effect of element interaction on their accumulation. It was hypothesized that multiple elements interfere with each other during the accumulation process. It has been reported that elevated grain-As concentrations can occur in low-As soils under continuous and intermittently flooded conditions, and the presence of trace quantities of MSMA can strongly affect grain-As [98]. Yan, et al. [32] showed increased grain-As and yield reduction due to straighthead susceptibility results from MSMA-amendments under continuous flooding and similar environmental conditions. Therefore, both soil As and irrigation management impact grain-As and other elements in grain.

The effect of soil-As on average grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd under continuous and intermittent flooding conditions for the As-tolerant Zhe 733 is illustrated in Figure 4.1. Zhe 733 was selected based on its straighthead resistance and commercial use.



Figure 4.1. Average total grain element concentrations for Soil × Water combinations of Zhe 733 comparing soil-As (main plot) and irrigation management (sub-plot) effects on total grain concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd; ± bars = std. dev.

Under continuous flooding conditions, MSMA-amendments increased As from 0.30 to 0.60 mg kg⁻¹, increased Se from by 0.24 to 0.31 mg kg⁻¹, decreased Mo from 1.15 to 0.64 mg kg⁻¹ and increased Cd from 0.01 to 0.02 mg kg⁻¹. Under intermittent flooding conditions, MSMA-amendments increased As from 0.10 to 0.22 mg kg⁻¹, increased Se from 0.19 to 0.52 mg kg⁻¹, decreased Mo from 0.42 to 0.36 mg kg⁻¹, and increased Cd from 0.02 to 0.07 mg kg⁻¹. Therefore, increased soil-As not only increased grain-As, but also significantly impacted the uptake of Se, Mo and Cd, especially under intermittent flooding conditions.

A general trend of the effect of soil-As on average grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd for five other cultivars under continuous and intermittent flooding conditions is illustrated in Figure 4.2. For the five cultivars under continuous flooding conditions, MSMA amendments increased As by 250%, increased Se by 29%, decreased Mo by 51% and increased Cd by 35%. Under intermittent flooding conditions, MSMA amendments increased grain-As by 46%, increased Se by 71%, decreased Mo by 25% and decreased Cd by 12%. Overall, increasing soil-As positively impacted grain-As, grain-Se and grain-Cd, but negatively impacted grain-Mo.



Figure 4.2. Average total grain element concentrations for Soil × Water combinations of five cultivars comparing soil-As (main plot) and irrigation management (sub-plot) effects on total grain concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd

4.4.3. Irrigation Management Effect – Native Soil. Also shown in Figure 4.1, for Zhe 733 in native soil and compared to continuous flooding, intermittent flooding

significantly decreased grain-As from 0.30 to 0.10 mg kg⁻¹ (p = 0.003), significantly decrease grain-Se from 0.24 to 0.19 mg kg⁻¹ (p = 0.04), significantly decreased grain-Mo from 1.14 to 0.42 mg kg⁻¹ (p = 0.001, F = 14.78) and slightly increased grain-Cd from 0.01 to 0.02 mg kg⁻¹ (p = 0.111).

In the case of the five other cultivars under native soil and compared to continuous flooding, intermittent flooding slightly decreased grain-As from 0.33 to 0.26 mg kg⁻¹, slightly increased grain-Se from 0.34 to 0.41 mg kg⁻¹, significantly decreased grain-Mo from 1.19 to 0.67 mg kg⁻¹ (p < 0.001, F = 16.89) and slightly increased grain-Cd from 0.02 to 0.06 mg kg⁻¹ (Figure 4.2).

Redox potential largely impacted the fate and transport of As, due to the presence of insoluble Fe(III) (hydr)oxides and the formation of As(V)-Fe(III) complexes [36, 99]. Therefore, results from the current research support As incorporation onto Fe and other minerals such as manganese (Mn) at higher soil redox levels (500-200 mV) occurred in the intermittent flooding conditions, which may decrease As solubility and corresponding plant uptake [28]. In addition, under high redox levels, As is also in the less mobile As(V) form [5]. Therefore, intermittent flooding decreases As mobility and plant uptake.

For Zhe 733, intermittent flooding also significantly decreased grain-Se. However, the overall trend of the other cultivars indicated a slight increase in grain-Se under intermittent flooding, confirming Mikkelsen, et al. [37]. This further suggests the Se uptake mechanism is a function of cultivar. Therefore, cultivar selection based on minimizing grain-As may also have implications on other grain concentrations. Similar to grain-As, overall grain-Mo significantly decreased as a result of intermittent flooding. The primary uptake mechanism for Mo and As under aerobic conditions exists via the phosphate pathway [42]. Therefore, it is evident the more oxidized environment regulates and effectively reduces Mo bioavailability by the formation of immobile iron (hydr)oxide complexes, resulting in lower mobility and thus plant uptake [83]. Overall grain-Cd concentrations significantly increased under the intermittent flooding condition. Due to the more oxidized conditions associated with intermittent flooding, insoluble CdS may convert to the more soluble CdSO₄, resulting in a greater availability of Cd [51].

The average As, Se, Mo and Cd grain concentrations in native soil for five individual cultivars are given in Figure A.1. Tukey's adjustment was used to identify the cultivar that has the most significant increase or decrease of a given element as compared to others. This provides a process to minimize or maximize one element uptake in a given Soil × Water combination by cultivar selection while evaluating this impact on other elements. The significant impact of cultivars for the Soil × Water combinations of the six cultivars in native and MSMA-amended soil is given in Table 4.1. Among the six cultivars in native soil under continuous and intermittent flooding conditions, cultivar selection has at least one significant impact on the uptake of each element. Therefore, this research provides evidence that cultivar selection alone can significantly increase or decrease grain element concentration and varies with irrigation management.

 Table 4.1. Effect of cultivar for Soil × Water combinations of six cultivars on total grain

 concentration of As, Se, Mo and Cd

	Nat	ive	MSMA-amended		
	Continuous	Intermittent	Continuous	Intermittent	
		Zhe 733 \downarrow			
As	Spalcik ↑	Spalcik ↑	-	-	
	Zhe 733 \downarrow				
Se	GP-2 ↑	-	-	-	
	4484-1693↓	Zhe 733 \downarrow			
Mo	Wells ↑	Spalcik ↑	Spalcik \downarrow	-	
Cd	GP-2	-	GP-2	-	

4.4.4. Irrigation Management Effect – MSMA-Amended Soil. Figure 4.1 also shows the effect of irrigation management on average grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd for Zhe 733 under MSMA-amended soil conditions. In MSMA-amended soil and compared to continuous flooding, intermittent flooding significantly decreased grain-As from 0.60 to 0.22 mg kg⁻¹ (p = < 0.001, F = 27.09), significantly increased grain-Se from 0.31 to 0.52 mg kg⁻¹ (p < 0.001, F = 25.76), significantly decreased grain-Mo from 0.64 to 0.36 mg kg⁻¹ (p = 0.023) and significantly increased grain-Cd from 0.02 to 0.07 mg kg⁻¹

 1 (p = 0.001, F = 15.53). Therefore, irrigation management resulted in similar effect on As, Mo and Cd uptake in native soil and MSMA-amended soil; however, the effect on grain-Se was opposite.

In the case of the other five cultivars in MSMA-amended soil and compared to continuous flooding, intermittent flooding significantly decreased grain-As from 1.16 to 0.38 mg kg⁻¹ (p < 0.001, F = 12.01), significantly increased grain-Se from 0.44 to 0.70 mg kg⁻¹ (p < 0.001, F = 8.86), slightly decreased grain-Mo from 0.59 to 0.50 mg kg⁻¹ and significantly increased grain-Cd from 0.02 to 0.05 mg kg⁻¹ (p < 0.001, F = 20.96) (Figure 4.2). Therefore, as compared to native soil, intermittent flooding under MSMA-amended soil conditions has a greater impact on the grain-As decrease. The grain-As concentrations in MSMA-amended soil determined from this study were slightly different from those reported by other researchers [4, 31], most likely due to the cultivar section in different studies.

The increase in grain-Se found as a result of intermittent flooding in MSMAamended soil in the current research confirms Mikkelsen, et al. [37] and corresponds to native soil results. It is known that Se is most prevalent in the mobile selenate form under aerobic conditions, therefore causing the increase in grain-Se in intermittent flooding [37]. The increase in grain-Cd as a result of intermittent flooding discovered in MSMA-amended soil in the current research corresponds with Arao, et al. [70]. This increase in Cd concentrations of rice grain due to aerobic treatments makes it difficult to simultaneously decrease human exposure to both As and Cd elements based on irrigation management. Figure A.1 also shows the average grain concentrations in MSMA-amended soil for the other five cultivars, and Tukey's adjustment was used to identify the cultivar that has the most significant increase or decrease for a given element as compared to others.

Table 4.1 also shows that among the six cultivars in MSMA-amended soil under continuous and intermittent flooding conditions, cultivar selection has a significant impact on grain-Mo and grain-Cd. Therefore, this research validates evidence that cultivar selection alone can significantly increase or decrease grain element concentration due to differences in uptake mechanisms and plant transport. Though the cultivar impact on grain-As, Se, Mo and Cd in MSMA-amended intermittent flooding conditions was also determined negligible, the cultivar Zhe 733 minimized grain-As in MSMA-amended soil, corresponding with Hua, et al. [33]. Combined with results from native soil plots, this result agrees with previous research and indicates the importance of cultivar selection as a control of element uptake [13, 29, 100].

A field experiment using 25 diverse rice cultivars including the study of the heading date impact on grain-As and plant yield was conducted by Pillai, et al. [31]. A positive correlation between grain-As and heading date was found, which was attributed to extended vegetative growth and exposure to soil-As due to delayed heading [31].

4.4.5. Element Correlations in Rice Grain. The six cultivars in this experiment were evaluated (p < 0.05, $R^2 > 0.60$) individually based on the correlations between grain-As concentrations and grain- Se, Mo and Cd concentrations in both native and MSMA-amended soil. Figure 4.3 shows the impact of grain-As on grain Se, Mo and Cd concentrations and the corresponding correlations.



Figure 4.3. Element correlations for the Zhe 733 cultivar in native (left) and MSMAamended soil (right), including As-Se, As-Mo and As-Cd (top to bottom); evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.

In native soil, grain-As had a positive impact on grain-Se in native soil ($R^2 = 0.35$, p = 0.05), but had a negative impacted in MSMA-amended soil ($R^2 = 0.61$, p = 0.003) (Figure 4.3). Grain-As had a positive impact on grain-Mo in both native ($R^2 = 0.57$, p = 0.003) 0.004) and MSMA-amended ($R^2 = 0.67$, p = 0.001) soil. However, grain-As had a negative impact on grain-Cd in native ($R^2 = 0.40$, p = 0.03) and MSMA-amended ($R^2 = 0.57$, p = 0.004) soil. These results contradict findings of a positive As-Cd correlation (Cd = 0.4162×As) in rice root and straw discovered by Cheng, et al. [94].

Figure A.3 shows correlations between grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd are shown for five additional cultivars in native and MSMA-amended soil. An overall negative trend between grain-As and grain-Se was observed, though no strong correlations were found. Strong positive grain As-Mo correlations were discovered for 4484-1693 (native), Cocodrie (native) and Wells (native) similar to Zhe 733 presented above. Dunn and Dunn [69] discovered plant Mo is negatively correlated with straighthead score; suggesting total grain Mo decreases as straighthead score and total grain-As increase, contradicting the overall positive grain As-Mo correlation found in the current research. A negative grain As-Mo correlation was also shown in Norton, et al. [101]. Strong neutral As-Cd correlations were discovered for Cocodrie (MSMA-amended), GP-2 (native), Spalcik (MSMA-amended), and Zhe 733 (MSMA-amended).

4.4.6. Analysis of Variance. ANOVA was performed on Zhe 733 using experiment-wise mean squared error to determine significance of main effects and the corresponding interaction specific to Zhe 733. The significance of the Soil × Water interaction term was tested first and succeeded by main effects, Soil and Water. Table 4.2 also shows significance levels of interaction and main effects. Testing interaction terms for Zhe 733, the Soil × Water interaction is significant for Mo only (p = 0.04), indicating the impact of soil-As on grain-Mo is influenced by irrigation management. Testing main effects for Zhe 733, soil-As is significant for As and Se (p = 0.01 and 0.01,

respectively), confirming the increase in grain-As and grain-Se in MSMA-amended soil as compared to native soil that was discovered in the current research.

Table 4.2. Total grain concentration analysis of variance for six cultivars as impacted by Soil, Water and Cultivar in split-split plot, including results for Zhe 733 (as impacted by

Soil and Water) and six cultivars (as impacted by Soil, Water and Cultivar).

		Element (Pr > F) [†]					
	DF	$F_C ^\dagger$	As	Se	Мо	Cd	
	Zhe 733						
Soil	1	4.49	0.01**	0.01**	< 0.001****	0.59	
Water	3	3.25	0.09	0.59	< 0.001***	0.73	
$\mathbf{Soil} \times \mathbf{Water}$	3	3.25	0.69	0.19	0.04^{*}	0.9	
4484-1693, Cocodrie, GP-2, Spalcik, Wells and Zhe 733							
Cultivar	5	2.31	< 0.001****	< 0.001***	< 0.001****	0.3557	
$\operatorname{Cultivar} \times \operatorname{Soil}$	5	2.31	< 0.001***	0.0114*	0.0002^{***}	0.5190	
Cultivar \times Water	15	1.77	0.0498^{*}	0.7769	0.0041**	0.1933	
Cultivar×Soil×Water	15	1.49	< 0.001***	0.8419	0.1503	0.7902	

MS _{experiment-wise} = 0.051, 0.014, 0.023, and 0.003 for As, Se, Mo and Cd, respectively

*, **, *** indicate significance when p < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001

 $^{\dagger} \alpha = 0.05$

Table 4.2 also shows the ANOVA performed on the split-split plot experiment for all six cultivars to test significance of treatment main effects and interactions for elements As, Se, Mo and Cd. Testing interactions for all six cultivars, Cultivar × Soil × Water is significant for As (p < 0.001); Cultivar × Water is significant for Mo (p = 0.004); and Cultivar × Soil is significant for Se (p = 0.011). Further analysis using Tukey's test was utilized to contrast Cultivar means within Soil × Water combinations, allowing irrigation management, soil effects and existing correlations to be evaluated. The occurrence of multiple significant interactions for the six cultivars indicate As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake to be a complex function rather than a function of a single element.

4.5. ASSOCIATED CONTENT

4.5.1. Supporting Information. Details on method detection limits, average total grain concentration based on cultivar, heading date and total grain-As analysis, and element correlations based on cultivar.

4.5.2. Acknowledgements. This research was funded by USDA (Award No. 2008-38814-04727) to Missouri University of Science & Technology through Lincoln University. The authors would like to thank Ms. Tiffany Sookaserm for sample collection and preparation, Ms. Brandi Clark for assistance in method development, and Prof. V. A. Samaranayake for assistance of statistical analysis.

5. ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, PHOSPHATE, AND FERRIC OXIDE – A GREENHOUSE STUDY

Eric M. Farrow¹, Jianmin Wang^{1*}, Honglan Shi², John Yang³, Bin Hua³, Wengui Yan⁴, and Baolin Deng⁵

¹ Department of Civil, Architectural and Environmental Engineering, Missouri University of Science and Technology, Rolla, Missouri

² Department of Chemistry, Missouri University of Science and Technology, Rolla, Missouri

³ Department of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences, Lincoln University of

Missouri, Jefferson City, Missouri

⁴ Dale Bumpers National Rice Research Center, Agricultural Research Service, U.S.

Department of Agriculture, Stuttgart, Arkansas

⁵ Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Missouri, Columbia, Missouri

5.1. ABSTRACT

Approximately half of the world's population is majorly reliant upon rice for its caloric intake and is at risk of contamination by arsenic (As) and other trace elements. Though contamination varies globally, recent research has directly the use of specific environmental factors to reduce As uptake and subsequent human health. However, previous research has largely produced mixed results. This research was completed as a greenhouse study to replicate contaminated rice grown south central U.S. on native and high-As soils contaminated by arsenical herbicides applied to the former cotton belt. Studies included the impact of soil-As, phosphate application and iron oxide amendments on total grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd. Correlations between elements in rice grain were also evaluated. It was found that when compared to native soil, MSMA-amended soil increased grain-As, increased grain-Se, decreased grain-Mo and increased grain-Cd. Phosphate application was found to have a substantial impact on the uptake and accumulation of Se. It was also found that iron oxide amendments had a significant impact on grain-As.

5.2. INTRODUCTION

Rice is a staple food crop for which 50% of the world's population depends for its primary caloric intake and is at risk of contamination by arsenic (As) and other trace elements including cadmium (Cd) [102]. Arsenic contamination of rice varies globally with crops grown in some areas contaminated by As polluted irrigation water, others grown on soil with high amounts of As byproducts due to large mining areas, and still others are extensively cultivated on As impacted soil from the historic application of arsenical pesticides and defoliants [11, 103]. Global paddy rice crops account for an estimated 75% of global rice production, growing at an annual rate of 3% and further exacerbating the risk to human health [17, 18].

Elevated soil-As levels in the south central U.S. are the result of monosodium methanearsonate (MSMA) application as an herbicide in this former cotton growing region that currently produces the majority of paddy rice supplied to the U.S. [20, 30]. It is well known that plant As accumulated in rice grain increases as soil-As levels increase [24]. As a result, the typical rice subsistent Asian-American diet (400 g d⁻¹ cap⁻¹) may consume up to six times more than the average rice consumer in the U.S. [2, 104] and easily exceed the drinking water equivalent standard set by the U.S. EPA and World Health Organization (WHO) as a maximum tolerable daily intake (MTDI) of 10 μ g L⁻¹ [21, 24, 25]. Evidence suggests the human health risk associated with As may persist and or impact other trace elements [105].

The mobility, uptake and accumulation of As and elements such as selenium (Se), molybdenum (Mo) and cadmium (Cd) is heavily influenced by complex soil properties, minerals and is further impacted by the application of phosphate containing crop fertilizers [77, 106]. Arsenic is thermodynamically stable in most soils and residual soil-As persists decades after crop applications of MSMA ceased in the U.S [10]. Among the factors that influence As mobility in soil are speciation, soil redox (Eh) and the presence of mineral surfaces such as iron (Fe). Studies have shown roots can uptake organic and inorganic As species using separate uptake mechanisms [56]. Inorganic arsenate (As^V) is dominant in aerobic conditions and is readily available for plant uptake as a phosphate analogue via phosphate transporter pathway [57, 59]. However, inorganic arsenite (As^{III})

accounts for the majority of uptake by plants using a different uptake mechanism, transported as a silicic acid analogue by aquaglyceroporins [60, 61, 107, 108].

Rice plant accumulation and toxicity from As, Se, Mo and Cd has been studied with varying phosphate applications and identified a narrow window between nutrient deficiency and toxicity for Se and Mo [63, 109].

The effect of phosphate on As uptake by rice is still unclear. Arsenic in the form of arsenate is a phosphate analogue relating to physiochemical soil characteristics. Some research suggests that the addition of phosphate to soils containing As should increase the mobility of As through competitive sorption towards available particle surfaces [73, 74] and increase the uptake of As by rice. Hua, et al. [33] has shown a direct correlation in soil between DCB-extractable phosphate concentrations and soil-As, however, Abedin, et al. [110] has shown phosphate decreases the uptake of some As species by rice plants due to a competitive uptake mechanism. Phosphate and arsenate are also analogues with respect to root plasma membrane transporters, where arsenate enters at rice root via phosphate transporters [110]. Abedin, et al. [110] shows application of phosphate does not affect plant As concentrations, except for rice husk. Effects of phosphate on the mobility and uptake of other elements (Se, Mo and Cd) have also been reported [38, 55, 63, 109].

Iron is an essential element and a prevalent sorbent mineral in soil with high adsorption capacities for sorbates such as As^V in aerobic conditions with high Eh. In an anaerobic environment, Eh decreases causing As(V) bound on Fe-oxide or Fe-hydroxide Fe^{III} complexes dissolute and release Fe^{II} and As^{III} into solution, increasing As bioavailability [76]. Other factors can control As mobility, including pH, which primary

impacts As^V [111], and the formation of iron plaque on root surfaces, where As^V accounts for 80-84% of total As adsorbed on plaque [34, 49, 81]. In addition, recent attempts of in situ iron oxide amendments have been shown to increase soil adsorption capacity for As [79]. The impact of iron oxide on the uptake of Se, Mo and Cd is less known.

The objectives of the current research were to provide a comprehensive understanding and the significance of: (a) the impact of increasing soil-As conditions; (b) the impact of phosphate application; and (c) the impact of soil iron oxide amendments on element uptake.

5.3. EXPERIMENTAL

5.3.1. Design. Multiple greenhouse studies were conducted in Rolla, Missouri at the Missouri S&T Chester Baker Greenhouse between February 2010 and January 2012. Included are a total of three studies, including: soil As impact, phosphate impact and iron oxide impact on total rice grain accumulation (Figure 5.1). The soil used in this study is a Dewitt silt-loam (fine, smectitic, thermic Typic Albaqualf) obtained from the USDA ARS Dale Bumpers National Rice Research Center (Stuttgart, Arkansas) in winter 2009. The two control soils in the soil-As experiment were native soil and MSMA-amended soil obtained from the field, where MSMA-amended soil was treated with MSMA at a rate of 6.7 kg MSMA ha⁻¹ in alternate years since the 1980s for straighthead resistance evaluation [95]. Native soil was used in the phosphate and iron oxide impact. Native soil was also amended (As-amended) to achieve As concentrations equal to that in MSMA-amended soil for these two studies. Soil was homogenized using an industrial concrete mixer (Lancaster Concrete Mixer, Type SW, Year 1942, No. 153, Lancaster, PA).

Continuous flooding conditions were maintained throughout the greenhouse experiments. Supplement fertilizer applications were given to each pot using general 20:20:20 fertilizer solution by mixing 31.7 g fertilizer L^{-1} tap water.

The soil-As impact study, illustrated in Figure 5.1a, included the two control soils and four additional soil As levels achieved by dosing native soil with a sodium hydrogen arsenate heptahydrate (Na₂HAsO₄*7H₂O). A 1L solution was added during soil homogenization prior to planting to achieve soil-As concentrations of 8.9, 11.9, 20.9 and 25.9 mg kg⁻¹. Three cultivars commonly grown in the south central U.S. were included in this study with origin in China (Zhe 733) and the U.S. (Cocodrie and Rondo). Cultivars included early, mid, and late maturity periods and varying As induced straighthead susceptibility (resistant, moderate, and susceptible) [69, 91].



Figure 5.1. Experimental design of soil-As, phosphate and iron oxide studies, *, **, *** indicate control soil, As-amended soil and background phosphate, respectively

The phosphate impact study, illustrated in Figure 5.1b, included two soil As conditions, native soil and an As-amended soil dosed with Na₂HAsO₄*7H₂O to replicate

background soil-As found in MSMA-amended soil [33]. Native and As-amended soil was treated with phosphate applications using calcium dihydrogen phosphate $Ca(H_2PO_4)_2$ solution to minimize the addition of other nutrients such as potassium and ammonia. After plants achieved five to six leaves, phosphate applications of 15.2, 23.8 and 32.5 mg P L⁻¹ were applied as solution in 50 mL increments once per two week period to achieve phosphate concentrations (w/w) of up to five times background levels [74]. Two cultivars were used in this study, including Cocodrie and Zhe 733.

The iron oxide impact study, also illustrated in Figure 5.1b, included the same soil treatments as the phosphate impact study. The iron oxide used in this experiment was obtained as an affordable milling byproduct from an iron ore production facility in the U.S. The byproduct, also known as fines (-500 mesh or 0.025 mm), was composed of 80% magnetite and 20% hematite. Iron oxide was amended into each pot and homogenized at 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0% (w/w) with 3.0 kg of soil [84, 112]. Treatments were completed in triplicates including a control unless stated otherwise. Two cultivars were used in this study, including Cocodrie and Zhe 733.

5.3.2. Sample Preparation. Grain samples were harvested from rice plants at maturity, stored in sterile plastic sample bag and allowed to dry in laminar flow vent hood (NUAIRE Model NU-425-600) for 21 days. Grain samples were dehulled, milled and ground according to Pillai, et al. [31]. Prior to digestion, samples were oven dried at 65°C for 48h or until constant weight and stored in a desiccator.

5.3.3. Sample Digestion Procedure. A modified EPA Method 3052 was used for the total digestion of the rice grain, using a pressure/temperature (p/T) sensor for control. Acid cleaned Rotor 48 (MF50) digestion vessels were used and 0.5 g rice grain

was measured into the vessels with 8.0 mL optima grade nitric acid (HNO₃) and 0.3 mL 30% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Fisher Scientific Co., Boston, U.S.). The digestion program consists of a 10 min ramp to 100°C with a 10 min hold, followed by a 10 min ramp to 140°C with a 15 min hold, then a 10 min ramp to 170°C with a 10 min hold before cool down. All digested samples were allowed to cool < 50°C before venting.

Standard reference material (NIST, Gaithersburg, MD) for rice grain (SRM1568a) was included in respective digestions for quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC). Additional digestion QA/QC included one sample blank, one sample duplicate and one sample spike per 10 samples for rice and soil digestion. Digested samples were rinsed from digestion vessels to acid cleaned 50 mL conical tubes and diluted to 20 mL using Millipore water (18.2 M Ω -cm).

5.3.4. Chemical Analysis. Total grain-As, Mo, Se and Cd concentrations were determined using inductively coupled mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (PerkinElmer Elan DRC-e, MDS Sciex, Concord, Ontario, Canada). Grain samples were diluted to acid concentrations of 10% prior to ICP-MS analysis. Sample method detection limits (MDLs) for elements were determined for the ICP-MS according to EPA Method 200.8. MDLs were estimated for rice grain As, Se, Mo and Cd as 0.004, 0.031, 0.003 and 0.003 mg kg⁻¹, respectively. Sample concentrations greater than 2-3 times MDL were required QA/QC was validated if the following criteria were met: (a) relative difference of a duplicate sample less than 20%; (b) spike recovery between 85-115%; and (c) the accuracy of a calibration standard within 10% per 10 samples analyzed. Concentrations related to soil and grain accumulation in this study are reported as total concentrations unless stated otherwise.

5.3.5. Statistical Analysis. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure appropriate for the completely randomized design utilized in this experiment was accrued out using SAS 9.2 to estimate the impact of treatment variables (soil-As, phosphate, iron oxide and cultivar) on the measured responses. Total grain concentrations of As, Se, Mo and Cd were the measured responses for all experiments in this study.

In the soil-As impact study, experimental design includes the treatment factors of soil-As (Soil) and Cultivar. The phosphate impact study includes treatment factors of Soil, Cultivar and phosphate application (Phosphate). The iron oxide impact study includes treatment factors of Soil, Cultivar and iron oxide amendment (Iron oxide). ANOVA allowed interaction terms representing the combined impact of factors on element uptake to be tested, whereby a significant interaction term signifies that the impact of the changing levels of one factor is influenced by the level of the other factor(s). Least square means with Tukey's adjustment was used to contrast means within treatment factors when interactions were determined significant. Tukey's procedure allowed experiment-wise error to be kept at the selected rate, $\alpha = 0.05$ [97].

5.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.4.1. Soil Characterization. Select soil characterization and physiochemical properties of two soils used in the As impact study, native and MSMA-amended soil were presented in Farrow, et al. [105]. Native soil contained 5.9 mg kg⁻¹ As, 0.23 mg kg⁻¹ Se, 0.38 mg kg⁻¹ Mo and 0.06 mg kg⁻¹ Cd and MSMA-amended soil contained 19.5 mg kg⁻¹ As, 0.53 mg kg⁻¹ Se, 0.63 mg kg⁻¹ Mo and 0.06 mg kg⁻¹ Cd. Both soils had background phosphorus levels of 6.5 mg P kg⁻¹ soil [33]. Background iron

concentrations were measured as 7.0-10.0 mg g^{-1} in native soil and 12.0-15.0 mg g^{-1} in As-amended soil according to Hua, et al. [33].

5.4.2. Effect of Soil-As. The soil-As impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations for the three cultivars were compared between the six soil-As conditions. Figure 5.2 shows the correlations between soil-As and grain concentrations for Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733. For the Zhe 733 cultivar and compared to native soil, MSMA-amended soil increased grain-As by 254%, increased grain-Se by 35%, decreased grain-Mo by 23% and increased grain-Cd by 15%. Therefore, increased soil-As impacts not only significantly increased grain-As, but also substantially impacted the uptake of Se, Mo and Cd and confirmed Farrow, et al. [105].



Figure 5.2. Correlations between Soil-As and concentrations of: (a) grain-As, (b) grain-Se, (c) grain-Mo, and (d) grain-Cd for Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733 (left to right); evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$

The ratio of grain-As to soil-As for rice plants grown in native soil ranged from 0.02 to 0.08. Grain-As was significantly increased for all cultivars grown in MSMAamended soil (19.5 mg As kg⁻¹) and soil-As equal to 25.9 mg kg⁻¹, where the mean ratios of grain-As to soil-As were 0.08-0.13 and 0.03-0.09, respectively, indicating As uptake is not transport limited. The As-susceptible Rondo cultivar had the maximum grain-As to soil-As ratio estimated at 0.13, and thus, the most efficient uptake of soil-As. Figure 5.2a indicated strong positive correlations between soil-As and grain-As for the three cultivars, and validated an increase in grain-As corresponds to an increase in soil-As [24]. As compared to grain-As, grain-Se was less significantly impacted by soil-As for all cultivars.

Figure 5.2b also shows soil-As significantly increased grain-Se for Cocodrie (p = 0.02) significantly increased grain-Se for Zhe 733 (p = 0.0004). When compared to native soil, grain-Se concentrations for Zhe 733 increased by 30% in As-amended soil. This confirms findings by Farrow, et al. [105] that showed MSMA-amended soil increased grain-Se by 68% for Zhe 733 grown in similar soil under continuous flooding conditions. This provides further evidence that a correlation may exist between soil-As and grain-Se. The result also indicated that the grain-Se increase is associated with As uptake rather than changing irrigation condition. The correlation between soil-As and grain-Se for Rondo was negligible, as were correlations between soil-As and grain-Mo and Cd for all cultivars. Figure 5.2c-d shows correlations between soil-As and grain-Mo and Cd.

The cultivar impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared between the three cultivars for all soil-As conditions. As shown in Table 5.1, cultivar significantly impacts grain-Mo accumulation (p < 0.001, F = 13.48) where Zhe 733 significantly decreased grain-Mo. Combined with findings in Farrow, et al. [105], the significance of cultivar selection can either increase or decrease the uptake of Mo. In addition, cultivar had a substantial impact on the uptake and accumulation of As (p < 0.001, F = 26.99) and Se (p < 0.001, F = 45.40), where Zhe 733 substantially decreased grain-As and Cocodrie significantly decreased grain-Se. Negligible cultivar impact was realized on grain-Cd in the soil-As impact study.

	Element $(Pr > F)^{\dagger}$					
	As	Se	Mo	Cd		
	Soil-As Study					
Cultivar	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	0.226		
Soil-As	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	0.638	0.055^{*}		
Cultivar*Soil-As	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	0.308	0.268		
	Phosphate Study					
Cultivar	< 0.001***	0.029**	0.047**	< 0.001***		
Soil-As	< 0.001***	0.124	0.880	0.516		
Phosphate	0.401	0.015^{**}	0.660	0.290		
Cultivar × Soil-As	0.890	0.544	0.279	0.114		
Cultivar × Phosphate	0.521	0.108	0.756	0.123		
Soil-As \times Phosphate	0.857	0.094^{*}	0.321	0.707		
$Cultivar \times Soil-As \times Phosphate$	0.917	< 0.001****	0.618	0.183		
	Iron Oxide Study					
Cultivar	< 0.001***	0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***		
Soil-As	< 0.001****	0.021**	0.227	0.027^{**}		
Iron oxide	0.027^{**}	0.946	0.351	0.464		
Cultivar × Soil-As	< 0.001****	0.247	< 0.001***	0.606		
Cultivar × Iron oxide	0.084^{*}	0.398	0.047^{**}	0.129		
Soil-As \times Iron oxide	0.057^{*}	0.475	0.335	0.412		
$Cultivar \times Soil-As \times Iron \ oxide$	0.172	0.971	0.080^{*}	0.692		

 Table 5.1. Analysis of variance for soil-As, phosphate application and iron oxide studies

 in completely randomized experimental design

*, **, *** indicate significance when p < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001

 $^{\dagger} \alpha = 0.05$

In addition, the soil-As impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared for each of the three cultivars. Grain-As was significantly increased in Asamended soil for Rondo, with negligible soil-As impact on grain-As for other cultivars. Grain- Se, Mo and Cd were negligibly impacted by soil-As for all cultivars.

Correlations between the grain elements were evaluated. Figure 5.3 shows a strong positive grain As-Se correlation for Cocodrie ($R^2 = 0.61$, p = 0.002). This positive grain As-Se trend is also supported by Rondo (Figure 5.3b, $R^2 = 0.05$, p = 0.42) and Zhe 733 (Figure 5.3c, $R^2 = 0.20$, p = 0.07). This slight positive grain-As to grain-Se trend contradicts the slight negative trend found in Farrow, et al. [105]. The range of grain-As concentrations for Zhe 733 (0.18 to 1.28 mg kg⁻¹) extended beyond those found in Farrow, et al. [105] (0.14 to 0.79 mg kg⁻¹) and indicate a nonlinear uptake of As for Zhe 733. This results aligns with uptake kinetics and adsorption modeled by Abedin, et al. [57] and Zhang, et al. [54], respectively. Correlations between grain-As and other elements were negligible (Figure B.1).



Figure 5.3. Correlations between grain arsenic and total grain selenium concentrations for cultivars Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.

Table 5.1 shows the significance levels of the interaction (Cultivar*Soil) and treatment factors (Cultivar, Soil) for the soil-As impact study, where Cultivar*Soil is significant for As (p < 0.001, F = 6.57) and Se (p < 0.001, F = 4.33). The presence of a Cultivar*Soil interaction indicates a change in cultivar is impacted by the level of soil-As, and further suggests a cultivar may accumulate As and Se differently in native and MSMA-amended soils. Therefore, Tukey's adjustment was used to further evaluate the impact of treatment factors on grain-As, Se, Mo and Cd. Table 5.1 also indicates soil-As has a substantial impact on grain-As (p < 0.001, F = 55.73) and grain-Se (p < 0.001, F = 6.01), though the interaction term Cultivar × Soil was significant for both elements.

5.4.3. Effect of Phosphate Application. The impact of phosphate application on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared between the two soil-As conditions for the two cultivars. As shown in Table 5.1, phosphate application had a substantial impact on the uptake and accumulation of Se (p = 0.02), though the interaction term Cultivar × Soil-As × Phosphate was significant. Hopper and Parker [63] found plant uptake of the more phytotoxic selenite (SeO₃) to occur following the phosphate transporter protein pathway, therefore, results suggest the decrease in grain-Se may be due to the phosphate-selenite antagonism. As the availability of phosphate increase with concentrations in rhizosphere soil, phosphate transporter proteins substantially decrease uptake of the analogous selenite.

Phosphate impact per cultivar was also evaluated and found increased phosphate application had negligible impact on grain-As, but grain-Se slightly decreased for Zhe 733 in both native and As-amended soil (Figure B.2). For Zhe 733 plants, phosphate application equal to 11.2 mM PO₄, or double background levels, reduced grain-Se by 9%. Increasing phosphate application to 16.8 mM PO₄ reduced grain-Se by 57%. Further increasing phosphate application to five times background levels resulted in negligible change in grain-Se, illustrating phosphate has maximum effect on Se uptake when in the range of three and four times background levels. Plant Se uptake in the presence of phosphate is less known. Previous research has shown competitive inhibition of selenite uptake to occur with increasing soluble phosphate [63, 113, 114]. By understanding Se transport mechanisms, further research can sufficiently improve rice Se concentrations and minimize Se biofortification practices [76]. The phosphate impact on grain-As for Cocodrie was negligible (Figure B.3).

Plant Mo uptake can be enhanced by phosphates; whereby phosphates have a greater affinity for soil sorption sites [115, 116] and mobilize soil bound molybdenum [109, 117]. Further, increased PO₄ may also assist in the formation of phosphomolybdate complexes in soils that can then be readily adsorbed by plants [43]. The impact of phosphate application on grain-Mo in this study was shown negligible (Figure B.2-3).

Plant Cd uptake can be enhanced by phosphate application. Waterlot, et al. [55] shows P amendment generally increased Cd uptake in rye grass shoots by 17.9-79%. Wang, et al. [77] has shown phosphate fertilizer addition to significantly decrease soluble Cd (1.5-30.7%) and uptake in cabbage by 16.5-66.9%. The impact of phosphate application on grain-Cd in this study was also shown negligible (Figure B.2-3).

The soil-As impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations for the two cultivars were compared between the two soil-As conditions. Table 5.1 shows significance levels of the treatment factors (Cultivar, Soil, Phosphate) and respective interactions for the phosphate impact study. Cultivar*Soil*Phosphate was found to be significant for Se (p < 0.001, F = 9.62). As shown in Table 5.1, Soil-As is a significant factor for grain-As accumulation (p < 0.001). Further, grain-As was significantly increased for Cocodrie and Zhe 733 cultivars in As-amended soil, suggesting the same positive soil-As to grain-As correlation found in the soil-As impact study. The soil-As impact on grain- Se, Mo and Cd was negligible.

The cultivar impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared between the two cultivars. Also shown in Table 5.1, cultivar was a significant factor for the uptake of As (p < 0.001, F = 14.27), Mo (p = 0.05) and Cd (p < 0.001, F = 73.55). Further, cultivar had a substantial impact on the uptake and accumulation and Se (p =0.03), though the interaction term Cutlivar × Soil-As × Phosphate was significant (p <0.001). For the Zhe 733 cultivar, as compared to Cocodrie, grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd were all significantly decreased. Therefore, this data confirms previous research and indicates the importance of cultivar selection as an uptake control mechanism of multiple elements [13, 29, 100].

5.4.4. Effect of Iron Oxide Amendment. The impact of iron oxide amendments on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared between the two soil-As conditions and the two cultivars. As shown in Table 5.1, iron oxide amendments had a significant impact on grain-As (p = 0.03). Figure 5.4 shows the impact of iron oxide amendments to the Cocodrie (As-susceptible) cultivar in native soil. A substantial reduction ($R^2 = 0.29$, p = 0.07) in grain-As (Figure 5.4) concentrations was achieved with 2% (w/w) iron oxide amendments for a 67% decrease from 0.161 mg kg⁻¹ to 0.080 mg kg⁻¹. Figure 5.5 shows grain-As was also decreased ($R^2 = 0.43$, p = 0.04) by 2% iron oxide amendments in As-amended soil with a decrease of 55% from 1.407 mg kg⁻¹ to

 0.796 mg kg^{-1} (Figure 5.5a). In addition, iron oxide amendments also reduced grain-Mo (p = 0.05) (Figure 5.5b) and increased grain-Cd (p = 0.05) (Figure 5.5c). This suggests increased soil adsorption sites from Fe could sorb anions with a greater affinity to iron oxide and release Cd into solution. This also confirms iron oxide adsorption potential shown in previous studies [79, 84].



Figure 5.4. Iron oxide impact on Cocodrie concentrations of grain-As in native soil; including 95% prediction and confidence intervals



Figure 5.5. Iron oxide impact on Cocodrie concentrations of (a) grain-As, (b) grain-Mo and (c) grain-Cd in As-amended soil; including 95% prediction and confidence intervals

Arsenic sorption onto magnetite in solution, although slow and weak, has been shown to occur as zerovalent iron oxidized to Fe^{2+}/Fe^{3+} mixed phase [82]. Research by Su, et al. [118] shows soil-As in a natural environment approaching equilibrium over time increases with soil-Fe concentrations. Additional correlations were found for Cocodrie (Figure B.4) and Zhe 733 (Figure B.5).

The As adsorption capacity of the magnetite and hematite iron oxide mixture used in this study is less than granular ferric hydroxide and other forms of iron oxide, annual soil amendments may provide a cumulative increase in the soil adsorption capacity under flooded conditions [119]. As compared to Cocodrie, grain-As concentrations were significantly less in Zhe 733 and the impact of iron oxide expressed only a weak negative trend in both native and As-amended soil.

The soil-As impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations for the two cultivars were compared between the two soil-As conditions. Table 5.1 shows significance levels of the interactions (Cultivar × Soil) and treatment factors (Cultivar, Soil, Iron oxide) for the iron oxide impact study, where Cultivar × Iron oxide is significant for Mo (p = 0.047) and Cultivar × Soil-As is significant for As (p < 0.001, F = 57.86) and Mo (p < 0.001, F = 13.67). Table 5.1 indicates Soil-As was a significant factor for the uptake of grain-Se (p = 0.02) and grain-Cd (p = 0.03), with a substantial impact on grain-As (p < 0.001), though the Cultivar × Soil-As interaction was significant for grain-As.

Further, As-amended soil yielded higher grain-Se than native soil, a common trend in the above soil-As, phosphate and iron oxide impact studies. Elevated grain-Se in As-amended soil suggests a relationship between soil-As and Se uptake, one area of research with little information available. However, grain-Cd in native soil was greater than grain-Cd in As-amended soil (inconclusive in soil-As and phosphate studies).

In addition, grain-As was significantly increased in As-amended soil, suggesting the positive soil-As to grain-As correlation is confirmed. Next, the soil-As impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd were compared between the two soil-As conditions for each of the two cultivars, individually. For Zhe 733, MSMSA-amended soil significantly increased grain-As and grain-Se, significantly decreased grain-Mo and increased grain-Cd (insignificant). For Cocodrie, MSMA-amended soil significantly increased grain-As, decreased grain-Se and grain-Mo (insignificant) and increased grain-Cd (insignificant). The interaction term Cultivar × Soil-As was significant for As and Mo.

The cultivar impact on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd concentrations were compared between the two cultivars. As shown in Table 5.1, cultivar was a significant factor for the uptake of grain-Se (p = 0.001) and grain-Cd (p < 0.001, F = 36.13). Further, cultivar had a substantial impact on grain-As (p < 0.001, F = 61.06) and grain-Mo (p < 0.001, F =48.50), though the Cultivar × Soil-As interaction was significant for grain- As and Mo. Zhe 733 as compared to Cocodrie, significantly increased grain-As, significantly decreased grain-Se, significantly increased grain-Mo and significantly increased grain-Cd. Therefore, this data also confirms previous research and indicates the importance of cultivar selection as a control of element uptake [13, 29, 100].

5.5. ASSOCIATED CONTENT

5.5.1. Supporting Information. Details on average total grain concentrations (soil-As impact study), effect of soil-As on grain-As (soil-As impact study), element
correlations (soil-As impact study), impact of phosphate application (phosphate impact study), and impact of iron oxide amendments (iron oxide impact study).

5.5.2. Acknowledgements. This research was funded by USDA (Award No. 2008-38814-04727) to Missouri University of Science & Technology through Lincoln University. The authors would like to thank Ms. Tiffany Sookaserm for sample collection and preparation and Prof. V. A. Samaranayake for assistance of statistical analysis.

APPENDIX A:

SUPPORTING INFORMATION FOR:

ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT AND CULTIVAR



Figure A.1. Average values for Soil × Water combinations of six cultivar comparing main plot and sub-plot effects on total grain concentrations. Outliers removed according

to Grubbs test.



Figure A.2. Distribution boxplot between total grain-As and heading date in continuous

flooding non-MSMA soil for six cultivars



Figure A.3. Element correlations between As-Se, As-Mo and As-Cd (columns, left to right) for MSMA-amended (solid) and Native (open) soil of five cultivars, including 4484-1693, Cocodrie, GP-2, Spalcik and Wells (rows, top to bottom)

APPENDIX B:

SUPPORTING INFORMATION FOR:

ACCUMULATION OF SELECTED TRACE ELEMENTS IN RICE: EFFECTS OF SOIL ARSENIC, PHOSPHATE, AND FERRIC OXIDE – A GREENHOUSE

STUDY



Figure B.1. Element correlations between As-Se, As-Mo and As-Cd (columns, left to right) for three cultivars, including Cocodrie, Rondo and Zhe 733 (rows, top to bottom); evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.



Figure B.2. Impact of phosphate application on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake in Zhe 733 rice plants under native and As-amended soil conditions; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.





Figure B.3. Impact of phosphate application on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake in Cocodrie rice plants under native and As-amended soil conditions; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.



Figure B.4. Impact of iron oxide soil amendments on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake in Cocodrie rice plants under native and As-amended soil conditions; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.



Figure B.5. Impact of iron oxide soil amendments on grain- As, Se, Mo and Cd uptake in Zhe 733 rice plants under native and As-amended soil conditions; evaluated based on coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.60$.

APPENDIX C:

EXPERIMENTAL PHOTOS



Homogenizing soil for pot experiment using concrete mixer



Pot experiment soil preparation



Rice seedlings shortly after transplant



Mature rice plants in greenhouse



Rice grain sample taken at harvest



Pots following harvest after rice straw has been removed for soil to dry

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Khush, G. S., "Origin, dispersal, cultivation and variation of rice," *Plant Molecular Biology*, Vol. 35, Pp. 25-34 (1997).
- [2] Batres-Marquez, S. P., Jensen, H. H., and Upton, J., "Rice Consumption in the United States: Recent Evidence from Food Consumption Surveys," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, Vol. 109, No. 10, Pp. 1719-1727 (2009).
- Jackson, B. P., Taylor, V. F., Karagas, M. R., Punshon, T., and Cottingham, K. L., "Arsenic, Organic Foods, and Brown Rice Syrup," *Environ Health Perspect*, Vol. 120, No. 5, (2012).
- [4] Williams, P. N., Raab, A., Feldmann, J., and Meharg, A. A., "Market basket survey shows elevated levels of as in South Central U.S. processed rice compared to California: Consequences for human dietary exposure," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 41, No. 7, Pp. 2178-2183 (2007).
- [5] Cullen, W. R., and Reimer, K. J., "Arsenic speciation in the environment," *Chemical Reviews*, Vol. 89, No. 4, Pp. 713-764 (1989).
- [6] Florea, A. M. Toxicity of alkylated derivatives of arsenic, antimony, and tin in vitro: cellular uptake, cytotoxicity, genotoxic effects, perturbation of Ca+2 homeostasis, and cell death. University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany, 2004.
- [7] Meharg, A. A., Williams, P. N., Adomako, E., Lawgali, Y. Y., Deacon, C., Villada, A., Cambell, R. C. J., Sun, G., Zhu, Y. G., Feldmann, J., Raab, A., Zhao, F. J., Islam, R., Hossain, S., and Yanai, J., "Geographical variation in total and inorganic arsenic content of polished (white) rice," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 43, No. 5, Pp. 1612-1617 (2009).
- [8] Exposure to Arsenic: A Major Public Health Concern. In *Preventing Disease Through Healthy Environments* 2010.
- [9] Latner, K., GAIN Report: China, People Republic of FAIRS Product Specific Maximum Levels of Contaminants in Foods. In Service, U. F. A., Ed. Global Agriculture Information Network: Bejing, 2006.
- [10] ATSDR, Toxicological Profile for Arsenic. In Services, U. S. D. o. H. a. H., Ed. Public Health Service Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007.
- [11] Loebenstein, J. R., "The materials flow of arsenic in the United States," *Bureau of Mines Information Circular*, Vol. 9382, (1994).
- [12] Baffes, J., and Gautam, M., "Assessing the sustainability of rice production growth in Bangladesh," *Food Policy*, Vol. 26, No. 5, Pp. 515-542 (2001).

- [13] Norton, G. J., Duan, G., Dasgupta, T., Islam, M. R., Lei, M., Zhu, Y., Deacon, C. M., Moran, A. C., Islam, S., Zhao, F. J., Stroud, J. L., McGrath, S. P., Feldmann, J., Price, A. H., and Meharg, A. A., "Environmental and genetic control of arsenic accumulation and speciation in rice grain: Comparing a range of common cultivars grown in contaminated sites across Bangladesh, China, and India," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 43, No. 21, Pp. 8381-8386 (2009).
- [14] Zavala, Y. J., and Duxbury, J. M., "Arsenic in rice: I. Estimating normal levels of total arsenic in rice grain," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 42, No. 10, Pp. 3856-3860 (2008).
- [15] Zhu, Y. G., Sun, G. X., Lei, M., Teng, M., Liu, Y. X., Chen, N. C., Wang, L. H., Carey, A. M., Deacon, C., Raab, A., Meharg, A. A., and Williams, P. N., "High percentage inorganic arsenic content of mining impacted and nonimpacted chinese rice," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 42, No. 13, Pp. 5008-5013 (2008).
- [16] Agricultural Fact Book. In *Chapter 2: Profiling Food Consumption in America*, Government Printing Office: 2001-2002; pp 14-21.
- [17] FAO In *Issues and Challenges in Rice Technological Development for Sustainable Food Security*, The International Rice Comission, Bangkok, Thailand, 2002; Bangkok, Thailand, 2002.
- [18] FAO *Rice Market Monitor*; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: 2012.
- [19] Navarro-Alarcon, M., and Cabrera-Vique, C., "Selenium in food and the human body: A review," *Science of the Total Environment*, Vol. 400, No. 1-3, Pp. 115-141 (2008).
- [20] Gilmour, J. T., and B.R. Wells., "Residual effects of MSMA on sterility in rice cultivars," *Agron. J.*, No. 72, Pp. 1066-1067 (1980).
- [21] Meacher, D. M., Menzel, D. B., Dillencourt, M. D., Bic, L. F., Schoof, R. A., Yost, L. J., Eickhoff, J. C., and Farr, C. H., "Estimation of multimedia inorganic arsenic intake in the U.S. population," *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*, Vol. 8, No. 7, Pp. 1697-1721 (2002).
- [22] Kingdom, U., Arsenic in Food Regulations. In *831*, The Minister of Agriculture, F. a. F.; Health, T. M. o., Eds. Her Majesty's Stationary Office: London, 1959.
- [23] WHO, Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. In *Incorporating the First and Second Addenda*, 3 ed.; World Health Organization: Geneva, 2008; Vol. 1.
- [24] Xie, Z. M., and Huang, C. Y., "Control of arsenic toxicity in rice plants grown on an arsenic-polluted paddy soil," *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, Vol. 29, No. 15-16, Pp. 2471-2477 (1998).

- [25] Liang, F., Li, Y., Zhang, G., Tan, M., Lin, J., Liu, W., and Lu, W., "Total and speciated arsenic levels in rice from China," *Food Additives and Contaminants Part A Chemistry, Analysis, Control, Exposure and Risk Assessment*, Vol. 27, No. 6, Pp. 810-816 (2010).
- [26] Heikens, A., Arsenic contamination of irrigation water, soil and crops in Bangladesh: Risk implications for sustainable agriculture and food safety in Asia. In Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations 2006; p 46.
- [27] Schoof, R. A., Yost, L. J., Eickhoff, J., Crecelius, E. A., Cragin, D. W., Meacher, D. M., and Menzel, D. B., "A market basket survey of inorganic arsenic in food," *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, Vol. 37, Pp. 839-846 (1999).
- [28] Masscheleyn, P. H., Delaune, R. D., and Patrick Jr, W. H., "Effect of redox potential and pH on arsenic speciation and solubility in a contaminated soil," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 25, No. 8, Pp. 1414-1419 (1991).
- [29] Jian, F. M., Yamaji, N., Mitani, N., Xu, X. Y., Su, Y. H., McGrath, S. P., and Zhao, F. J., "Transporters of arsenite in rice and their role in arsenic accumulation in rice grain," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 105, No. 29, Pp. 9931-9935 (2008).
- [30] Tao, S. S. H., and Bolger, P. M., "Dietary arsenic intakes in the United States: FDA total diet study, September 1991-December 1996," *Food Addit. Contam.*, Vol. 6, Pp. 465-472 (1999).
- [31] Pillai, T. R., Yan, W., Agrama, H. A., James, W. D., Ibrahim, A. M. H., McClung, A. M., Gentry, T. J., and Loeppert, R. H., "Total grain-arsenic and arsenic-species concentrations in diverse rice cultivars under flooded conditions," *Crop Science*, Vol. 50, No. 5, Pp. 2065-2075 (2010).
- [32] Yan, W., Dilday, R. H., Tai, T. H., Gibbons, J. W., McNew, R. W., and Rutger, J. N., "Differential response of rice germplasm to straighthead induced by arsenic," *Crop Science*, Vol. 45, No. 4, Pp. 1223-1228 (2005).
- [33] Hua, B., Yan, W., Wang, J., Deng, B., and Yang, J., "Arsenic accumulation in rice grains: Effects of cultivars and water management practices," *Environmental Engineering Science*, Vol. 28, No. 8, Pp. 591-596 (2011).
- [34] Somenahally, A. C., Hollister, E. B., Yan, W., Gentry, T. J., and Loeppert, R. H., "Water management impacts on arsenic speciation and iron-reducing bacteria in contrasting rice-rhizosphere compartments," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 45, No. 19, Pp. 8328-8335 (2011).
- [35] Charlet, L., Morin, G., Rose, J., Wang, Y., Auffan, M., Burnol, A., and Fernandez-Martinez, A., "Reactivity at (nano)particle-water interfaces, redox processes, and arsenic transport in the environment," *Comptes Rendus Geoscience*, Vol. 343, No. 2-3, Pp. 123-139 (2011).

- [36] Wang, Y., Morin, G., Ona-Nguema, G., Juillot, F., Calas, G., and Brown, G. E.,
 "Distinctive arsenic(V) trapping modes by magnetite nanoparticles induced by different sorption processes," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 45, No. 17, Pp. 7258-7266 (2011).
- [37] Mikkelsen, R. L., Mikkelsen, D. S., and Abshahi, A., "Effects of soil flooding on selenium transformations and accumulation by rice," *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, Vol. 53, No. 1, Pp. 122-127 (1989).
- [38] Smith, K. S., Balistrier, L. S., Smith, S. M., Severson, R. C., and Gupta, U. C., *Distribution and Mobility of Molybdenum in the Terrestrial Environment*

Molybdenum in Agriculture. Cambridge University Press: 1997.

- [39] Bautista, E. M., and Alexander, M., "Reduction of inorganic compounds by soil microorganisms," *Soil Science*, Vol. 36, Pp. 918-920 (1972).
- [40] Brookins, D. G., *Eh-pH Diagrams for Geochemistry*. Springer-Verlag: New York, 1987.
- [41] Huerta-Diaz, M. A., and Morse, J. W., "Pyritization of trace metals in anoxic marine sediments," *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, Vol. 56, No. 7, Pp. 2681-2702 (1992).
- [42] Balistrieri, L. S., Murray, J. W., and Paul, B., "The geochemical cycling of trace elements in a biogenic meromictic lake," *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, Vol. 58, No. 19, Pp. 3993-4008 (1994).
- [43] Barshad, I., "Factors affecting the molybdenum content of pasture plants 2. Effect of soluble phosphate, available nitrogen and soluble sulfates," *Soil Science*, Vol. 71, Pp. 387-298 (1951).
- [44] Stout, P. R., and Meagher, W. R., "Studies of the molybdenum nutrition of plants with radioactive molybdenum," *Science*, Vol. 108, Pp. 471-473 (1948).
- [45] Mench, M. J., and Fargues, S., "Metal uptake by iron-efficient and inefficient oats," *Plant Soil*, Vol. 165, Pp. 227-233 (1994).
- [46] Liu, J., Li, K., Xu, J., Liang, J., Lu, X., Yang, J., and Zhu, Q., "Interaction of Cd and five mineral nutrients for uptake and accumulation in different rice cultivars and genotypes," *Field Crops Research*, Vol. 83, No. 3, Pp. 271-281 (2003).
- [47] Reeves, P. G., and Chaney, R. L., "Bioavailability as an issue in risk assessment and management of food cadmium: A review," *Science of the Total Environment*, Vol. 398, No. 1-3, Pp. 13-19 (2008).

- [48] Belefant-Miller, H. B. a. B., T., "Distribution of arsenic and other minerals in rice plants aff ected by natural straighthead," *Agronomy*, No. 99, Pp. 1675-1681 (2007).
- [49] Hossain, M. B., Jahiruddin, M., Loeppert, R. H., Panaullah, G. M., Islam, M. R., and Duxbury, J. M., "The effects of iron plaque and phosphorus on yield and arsenic accumulation in rice," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 317, No. 1-2, Pp. 167-176 (2009).
- [50] Liu, W. J., Zhu, Y. G., Smith, F. A., and Smith, S. E., "Do phosphorus nutrition and iron plaque alter arsenate (As) uptake by rice seedlings in hydroponic culture?," *New Phytologist*, Vol. 162, No. 2, Pp. 481-488 (2004).
- [51] Ito, H., and Iimura, K., "The absorption and translocation of cadmium in rice plants and its influence on their growth, in comparison with zinc: Studies on heavy metal pollution of soils (Part 1)," *Bull Hokuriku National Agriculuture Experimental Station*, Vol. 19, Pp. 71-139 (1976).
- [52] Evans, L. J., "Chemistry of metal retention by soils," *Environmental Science & Technology*, Vol. 23, No. 9, Pp. 1046-1056 (1989).
- [53] Pierce, M. L., and Moore, C. B., "Adsorption of arsenite and arsenate on amorphous iron hydroxide," *Water Research*, Vol. 16, No. 7, Pp. 1247-1253 (1982).
- [54] Zhang, W., Singh, P., Paling, E., and Delides, S., "Arsenic removal from contaminated water by natural iron ores," *Minerals Engineering*, Vol. 17, No. 4, Pp. 517-524 (2004).
- [55] Waterlot, C., Pruvot, C., Ciesielski, H., and Douay, F., "Effects of a phosphorus amendment and the pH of water used for watering on the mobility and phytoavailability of Cd, Pb and Zn in highly contaminated kitchen garden soils," *Ecological Engineering*, Vol. 37, No. 7, Pp. 1081-1093 (2011).
- [56] Li, R. Y., Ago, Y., Liu, W. J., Mitani, N., Feldmann, J., McGrath, S. P., Ma, J. F., and Zhao, F. J., "The rice aquaporin lsi1 mediates uptake of methylated arsenic species," *Plant Physiology*, Vol. 150, No. 4, Pp. 2071-2080 (2009).
- [57] Abedin, M. J., Feldmann, J., and Meharg, A. A., "Uptake kinetics of arsenic species in rice plants," *Plant Physiol*, Vol. 128, No. 3, Pp. 1120-8 (2002).
- [58] Beever, R. E., and Burns, D., "Phosphorus uptake, storage and utilization by fungi.," *Advanced Botany Research*, Vol. 8, Pp. 127-129 (1980).
- [59] Meharg, A. A., and Macnair, M. R., "Suppression of the high affinity phosphate uptake system: A mechanism of arsenate tolerance in Holcus lanatus L," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, Vol. 43, No. 4, Pp. 519-524 (1992).

- [60] Marin, A. R., Masscheleyn, P. H., and Patrick Jr, W. H., "The influence of chemical form and concentration of arsenic on rice growth and tissue arsenic concentration," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 139, No. 2, Pp. 175-183 (1992).
- [61] Meharg, A. A., and Jardine, L., "Arsenite transport into paddy rice (Oryza sativa) roots," *New Phytologist*, Vol. 157, No. 1, Pp. 39-44 (2003).
- [62] Barrow, N. J., and Whelan, B. R., "Testing a mechanistic model. VIII. The effects of time and temperature of incubation on the sorption and subsequent desorption of selenite and selenate by a soil," *Journal of Soil Science*, Vol. 40, No. 1, Pp. 29-37 (1989).
- [63] Hopper, J. L., and Parker, D. R., "Plant availability of selenite and selenate as influenced by the competing ions phosphate and sulfate," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 210, No. 2, Pp. 199-207 (1999).
- [64] Gupta, U. C., Srivastava, P. C., and Gupta, S. C., "Role of micronutrients: Boron and molybdenum in crops and in human health and nutrition," *Current Nutrition and Food Science*, Vol. 7, No. 2, Pp. 126-136 (2011).
- [65] Uraguchi, S., Mori, S., Kuramata, M., Kawasaki, A., Arao, T., and Ishikawa, S., "Root-to-shoot Cd translocation via the xylem is the major process determining shoot and grain cadmium accumulation in rice," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, Vol. 60, No. 9, Pp. 2677-2688 (2009).
- [66] Herren, T., and Feller, U., "Transport of cadmium via xylem and phloem in maturing wheat shoots: Comparison with the translocation of zinc, strontium and rubidium," *Annals of Botany*, Vol. 80, No. 5, Pp. 623-628 (1997).
- [67] Uraguchi, S., and Fujiwara, T., "Cadmium transport and tolerance in rice: Perspectives for reducing grain cadmium accumulation," *Rice*, Vol. 5, No. 1, Pp. 1-8 (2012).
- [68] Spanu, A., Daga, L., Orlandoni, A. M., and Sanna, G., "The role of irrigation techniques in arsenic bioaccumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.)," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 46, No. 15, Pp. 8333-8340 (2012).
- [69] Dunn, B. W., and Dunn, T. S., "Influence of Soil Type on Severity of Straighthead in Rice," *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, Vol. 43, No. 12, Pp. 1705-1719 (2012).
- [70] Arao, T., Kawasaki, A., Baba, K., Mori, S., and Matsumoto, S., "Effects of water management on cadmium and arsenic accumulation and dimethylarsinic acid concentrations in Japanese rice," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 43, No. 24, Pp. 9361-9367 (2009).
- [71] Inahara, M., Ogawa, Y., and Azuma, H., "Effect of alkalinity application on cadmium uptake by lowland rice [Oryza sativa] under different water

managements," *Japanese Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, Vol. 78, No. 3, Pp. 253-260 (2007).

- [72] Quafoku, N. P., Kukier, U., Sumner, M. E., Miller, W. P., and Radcliffe, D. E., "Arsenate displacement from fly ash in amended soils," *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, Vol. 114, Pp. 185-198 (1999).
- [73] Meharg, A. A., "Arsenic in rice Understanding a new disaster for South-East Asia," *Trends in Plant Science*, Vol. 9, No. 9, Pp. 415-417 (2004).
- [74] Peryea, F. J., "Phosphate-induced release of arsenic from soils contaminated with lead arsenate," *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, Vol. 55, No. 5, Pp. 1301-1306 (1991).
- [75] Meharg, A. A., Naylor, J., and Macnair, M. R., "Phosphorus-nutrition of arsenatetolerant and non-tolerant phenotypes of Velvetgrass," *Journal of Environmental Quality*, Vol. 23, Pp. 234-238 (1994).
- [76] Marin, A. R., Masscheleyn, P. H., and Patrick Jr, W. H., "Soil redox-pH stability of arsenic species and its influence on arsenic uptake by rice," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 152, No. 2, Pp. 245-253 (1993).
- [77] Wang, B., Xie, Z., Chen, J., Jiang, J., and Su, Q., "Effects of field application of phosphate fertilizers on the availability and uptake of lead, zinc and cadmium by cabbage (Brassica chinensis L.) in a mining tailing contaminated soil," *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, Vol. 20, No. 9, Pp. 1109-1117 (2008).
- [78] Huang, J. H., Voegelin, A., Pombo, S. A., Lazzaro, A., Zeyer, J., and Kretzschmar, R., "Influence of arsenate adsorption to ferrihydrite, goethite, and boehmite on the kinetics of arsenate reduction by Shewanella putrefaciens strain CN-32," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 45, No. 18, Pp. 7701-7709 (2011).
- [79] Boisson, J., Mench, M., Vangronsveld, J., Ruttens, A., Kopponen, P., and De Koe, T., "Immobilization of trace metals and arsenic by different soil additives: Evaluation by means of chemical extractions," *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, Vol. 30, No. 3-4, Pp. 365-387 (1999).
- [80] Hingston, F. J., Posner, A. M., and Quirk, J. P., "Competitive adsorption of negatively charged ligands on oxide surfaces," *Faraday Society*, Vol. 52, Pp. 334-342 (1971).
- [81] Hingston, F. J., Science, U. o. W. A. D. o. S., and Nutrition, P., Specific Adsorption of Anions on Goethite and Gibbsite. University of Western Australia: 1970.

- [82] Manning, B. A., Hunt, M. L., Amrhein, C., and Yarmoff, J. A., "Arsenic(III) and arsenic(V) reactions with zerovalent iron corrosion products," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 36, No. 24, Pp. 5455-5461 (2002).
- [83] Moore, P. A., Jr., and Patrick Jr, W. H., "Aluminum, boron and molybdenum availability and uptake by rice in acid sulfate soils," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 136, Pp. 171-181 (1991).
- [84] Warren, G. P., and Alloway, B. J., "Reduction of arsenic uptake by lettuce with ferrous sulfate applied to contaminated soil," *Journal of Environmental Quality*, Vol. 32, No. 3, Pp. 767-772 (2003).
- [85] Somenahally, A. C., Hollister, E. B., Loeppert, R. H., Yan, W., and Gentry, T. J., "Microbial communities in rice rhizosphere altered by intermittent and continuous flooding in fields with long-term arsenic application," *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, Vol. 43, No. 6, Pp. 1220-1228 (2011).
- [86] Florea, A.-M., Yamoah, E. N., and Dopp, E., "Intracellular Calcium Disturbances Induced by Arsenic and Its Methylated Derivatives in Relation to Genomic Damage and Apoptosis Induction," *Environ Health Perspect*, Vol. 113, No. 6, (2005).
- [87] Williams, P. N., Price, A. H., Raab, A., Hossain, S. A., Feldmann, J., and Meharg, A. A., "Variation in arsenic speciation and concentration in paddy rice related to dietary exposure," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 39, No. 15, Pp. 5531-5540 (2005).
- [88] EPA, U. S., Drinking Water Contaminant Candidate List 3. In Agency, U. S. E. P., Ed. Federal Register: 2009; Vol. 74, p 51852.
- [89] Zhu, Y. G., Pilon-Smits, E. A. H., Zhao, F. J., Williams, P. N., and Meharg, A. A., "Selenium in higher plants: understanding mechanisms for biofortification and phytoremediation," *Trends in Plant Science*, Vol. 14, No. 8, Pp. 436-442 (2009).
- [90] Premarathna, L., McLaughlin, M. J., Kirby, J. K., Hettiarachchi, G. M., Stacey, S., and Chittleborough, D. J., "Selenate-enriched urea granules are a highly effective fertilizer for selenium biofortification of paddy rice grain," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, Vol. 60, No. 23, Pp. 6037-6044 (2012).
- [91] Antoine, J. M. R., Hoo Fung, L. A., Grant, C. N., Dennis, H. T., and Lalor, G. C., "Dietary intake of minerals and trace elements in rice on the Jamaican market," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, Vol. 26, No. 1-2, Pp. 111-121 (2012).
- [92] Rout, G. R., and Das, P., "Rapid hydroponic screening for molybdenum tolerance in rice through morphological and biochemical analysis," *Rostlinna Vyroba*, Vol. 48, No. 11, Pp. 505-512 (2002).

- [93] Jakubowski, M., Trzcinka-Ochocka, M., Hałatek, T., Raźniewska, G., and Szymczak, W., "Integrated indexes of occupational exposure as predictors of kidney dysfunction," *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, Vol. 15, No. 4, Pp. 393-399 (2002).
- [94] Cheng, W. D., Zhang, G. P., Yao, H. G., Wu, W., and Xu, M., "Genotypic and environmental variation in cadmium, chromium, arsenic, nickel, and lead concentrations in rice grains," *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B.*, Vol. 7, No. 7, Pp. 565-571 (2006).
- [95] Yan, W., Agrama, H. A., Slaton, N. A., and Gibbons, J. W., "Soil and plant minerals associated with rice straighthead disorder induced by arsenic," *Agronomy Journal*, Vol. 100, No. 6, Pp. 1655-1661 (2008).
- [96] Yan, W., and McClung, A. M., "'Rondo', a Long-Grain Rice with Resistances to Multiple Diseases," *Journal of Plant Registrations*, Vol. 4, No. 2, Pp. 131 (2010).
- [97] Montgomery, D. C., *Design and Analysis of Experiments*. 7 ed.; John Wiley & Sons: 2009.
- [98] Pillai, T. R. Variability of grain arsenic concentration and speciation in rice (Oryza sative). Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, 2009.
- [99] Charlet, L., Morin, Guillaume, Rose, Jerome, Wang, Yuheng, and Auffan, Melanie, "Reactivity at (nano)particle-water interfaces, redox processes, and arsenic transport in the environment," *Comptes Rendus Geosciences*, Vol. 343, No. 2-3, Pp. 123-139 (2011).
- [100] Zhang, J., Zhu, Y. G., Cheng, W. D., Qian, Q., Duan, G. L., "Mapping quanitative trait loci associated with arsenic accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa)," *New Phytologist*, Vol. 177, No. 2, Pp. 350-355 (2008).
- [101] Norton, G. J., Duan, G. L., Lei, M., Zhu, Y. G., Meharg, A. A., and Price, A. H., "Identification of quantitative trait loci for rice grain element composition on an arsenic impacted soil: Influence of flowering time on genetic loci," *Annals of Applied Biology*, Vol. 161, No. 1, Pp. 46-56 (2012).
- [102] Khush, G. S., "Origin, dispersal, cultivation and variation of rice," *Plant Molecular Biology*, Vol. 35, No. 1-2, Pp. 25-34 (1997).
- [103] NTP *Report on Carcinogens*; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: Research Triangle Park, NC, 2011; pp 50-53.
- [104] Nguyen, N. G., Tran, D. V., Rice in Producing Countries. In FAO Rice Information, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2002; Vol. 3.

- [105] Farrow, E. M., Wang, J., Shi, H., Yang, J., Hua, B., Yan, W., and Deng, B., "Accumulation of selected trace elements in rice: Effects of soil arsenic, irrigation management and cultivar," *to be submitted to Environmental Science & Technology*, (2012).
- [106] Lou-Hing, D., Zhang, B., Price, A. H., and Meharg, A. A., "Effects of phosphate on arsenate and arsenite sensitivity in two rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivars of different sensitivity," *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, Vol. 72, No. 1, Pp. 47-52 (2011).
- [107] Wang, X., Ma, L. Q., Rathinasabapathi, B., Cai, Y., Liu, Y. G., and Zeng, G. M., "Mechanisms of efficient arsenite uptake by arsenic hyperaccumulator pteris vittata," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 45, No. 22, Pp. 9719-9725 (2011).
- [108] Jia, Y., Huang, H., Sun, G. X., Zhao, F. J., and Zhu, Y. G., "Pathways and relative contributions to arsenic volatilization from rice plants and paddy soil," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 46, No. 15, Pp. 8090-8096 (2012).
- [109] Xie, R. J., and MacKenzie, A. F., "Molybdate sorption-desorption in soils treated with phosphate," *Geoderma*, Vol. 48, No. 3-4, Pp. 321-333 (1991).
- [110] Abedin, M. J., Feldmann, J., and Meharg, A. A., "Uptake kinetics of arsenic species in rice plants," *Plant Physiology*, Vol. 128, No. 3, Pp. 1120-1128 (2002).
- [111] Inskeep, W. P., McDermott, T. R., and Fendorf, S., Arsenic (V)/(III) cycling in soils and natural waters: chemical and microbiological processes. In *Environmental chemistry of arsenic*, Frankenberger, W. T., Jr., Ed. University of California - Riverside, 2002.
- [112] Dobermann, A., and Fairhurst, T. H., Rice: Nutrient Disorders & Nutrient Management. In Potash & Phosphate Institute and International Rice Research Institute: 2000.
- [113] Broyer, T. C., Johnson, C. M., and Huston, R. P., "Selenium and nutrition of Astragalus - II. Ionic sorption interactions among selenium, phosphate, and the macro-and micronutrient cations," *Plant and Soil*, Vol. 36, No. 1, Pp. 651-669 (1972).
- [114] Davies, E. B., Watkinson, J.H., "Uptake of native and applied selenium by pasture species," *New Zealand Journal of Agriculutral Research*, Vol. 9, No. 3, Pp. 641-652 (1966).
- [115] Gupta, U. C., Soil and plant factors affecting molybdenum uptake by plants. In *Molybdenum in Agriculture*, Cambridge University Press: New York, 1997; pp 71-91.

- [116] Smith, K. S., Balistrieri, L.S., Smith, S.M., Severson, R.C., Distribution and mobility of molybdenum in the terrestrial environment. In *Molybdenum in Agriculture*, Cambridge University Press: New York, 1997; pp 23-46.
- [117] Srivastava, P. C., and Gupta, U. C., *Trace Elements In Crop Production*. Science Publishers: Lebanon, NH, 1996.
- [118] Su, T., Shu, S., Shi, H., Wang, J., Adams, C., and Witt, E. C., "Distribution of toxic trace elements in soil/sediment in post-Katrina New Orleans and the Louisiana Delta," *Environmental Pollution*, Vol. 156, Pp. 944-950 (2008).
- [119] Guan, X. H., Wang, J., and Chusuei, C. C., "Removal of arsenic from water using granular ferric hydroxide: Macroscopic and microscopic studies," *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, Vol. 156, No. 1-3, Pp. 178-185 (2008).

VITA

Eric Michael Farrow was born and raised in Cape Girardeau, MO. He attended high school at Notre Dame Regional High School and graduated from Cape Central in May 2006. He transferred from Southeast Missouri State University to Missouri University of Science & Technology in August 2008 and graduated with a Bachelor's of Science in Environmental Engineering in December 2010. He received a Master's of Science degree in Environmental Engineering from Missouri University of Science & Technology in December 2012.